
 

 

Am unrhyw ymholiad yn ymwneud â'r agenda hwn cysylltwch â Emma Sullivan 
 (Rhif Ffôn: 01443 864420   Ebost: sullie@caerphilly.gov.uk) 

 
Dyddiad: Dydd Mercher, 25 Awst 2021 

 
 
 
 
Annwyl Syr/Fadam, 
 
Bydd cyfarfod digidol o'r Cabinet yn cael ei gynnal trwy Microsoft Teams ar  Dydd Mercher, 1af Medi, 
2021 am 10.30 am. i ystyried materion a gynhwysir yn yr agenda canlynol.  .  Mae croeso i chi 
ddefnyddio’r iaith Gymraeg yn y cyfarfod, a dylid rhoi cyfnod rhybudd o 3 diwrnod gwaith os ydych yn 
dymuno gwneud hynny.  
 
Bydd y cyfarfod hwn yn cael ei recordio a bydd ar gael i'w weld trwy wefan y Cyngor, ac eithrio 
trafodaethau sy'n ymwneud ag eitemau cyfrinachol neu eithriedig. Felly, bydd delweddau/sain yr 
unigolion sy'n bresennol ac/neu sy'n siarad yn ystod y Cabinet ar gael i'r cyhoedd trwy'r recordiad ar 
wefan y Cyngor: www.caerffili.gov.uk 
 
 
 

 
Yr eiddoch yn gywir, 

 
Christina Harrhy 

PRIF WEITHREDWR 
 

A G E N D A 
 

Tudalennau 
  

1  I dderbyn ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb  
 

 
2  Datganiadau o Ddiddordeb. 

 

Pecyn Dogfennau Cyhoeddus

http://www.caerffili.gov.uk/


  
 

 
Atgoffi’r Cynghorwyr a Swyddogion o'u cyfrifoldeb personol i ddatgan unrhyw fuddiannau 
personol a/neu niweidiol mewn perthynas ag unrhyw eitem o fusnes ar yr agenda hwn yn unol â 
Deddf Llywodraeth Leol 2000, Cyfansoddiad y Cyngor a'r Cod Ymddygiad ar gyfer Cynghorwyr 
a Swyddogion. 

 
I gymeradwyo a llofnodi’r cofnodion canlynol:- 
 
3  Cynhaliwyd y Cabinet ar 21 Gorffennaf 2021.  

1 - 6 
 

Blaenraglen Waith y Cabinet – Nodi. 
 
4  Blaenraglen Waith y Cabinet.  

7 - 8 
 

I dderbyn ac ystyried yr adroddiad(au) canlynol y mae angen penderfyniadau gweithredol arnynt-   
 
5  Taliadau Parcio Ceir.  

9 - 16 
 

6  Fframwaith Strategol ar gyfer Adferiad - Cynnydd.  
17 - 44 

 
7  Rheoli Risg Adeiladau a Gwasanaethau ar Lefel Rhybudd Sero.  

45 - 62 
 

 
Cylchrediad: 
 
Cynghorwyr 
 S. Cook, N. George, C.J. Gordon, P.A. Marsden, L. Phipps, J. Pritchard, Mrs E. Stenner, A. Whitcombe a 
R. Whiting,  
 
A Swyddogion Priodol. 
 
SUT FYDDWN YN DEFNYDDIO EICH GWYBODAETH 

Bydd yr unigolion hynny sy’n mynychu cyfarfodydd pwyllgor i siarad/roi tystiolaeth yn cael eu henwi yng nghofnodion y cyfarfod 
hynny, weithiau bydd hyn yn cynnwys eu man gweithio neu fusnes a’r barnau a fynegir. Bydd cofnodion o’r cyfarfod gan gynnwys 
manylion y siaradwyr ar gael i’r cyhoedd ar wefan y Cyngor ar www.caerffili.gov.uk. ac eithrio am drafodaethau sy’n ymwneud ag 
eitemau cyfrinachol neu eithriedig.  
Mae gennych nifer o hawliau mewn perthynas â’r wybodaeth, gan gynnwys yr hawl i gael mynediad at wybodaeth sydd gennym 
amdanoch a’r hawl i gwyno os ydych yn anhapus gyda’r modd y mae eich gwybodaeth yn cael ei brosesu. 
Am wybodaeth bellach ar sut rydym yn prosesu eich gwybodaeth a’ch hawliau, ewch i’r Hysbysiad Preifatrwydd Cyfarfodydd 
Pwyllgor Llawn ar ein gwefan neu cysylltwch â Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol drwy e-bostio griffd2@caerffili.gov.uk  neu ffoniwch  
01443 863028. 

 

http://www.caerffili.gov.uk/Pwyllgor/Preifatrwydd
http://www.caerffili.gov.uk/Pwyllgor/Preifatrwydd


  

 

CABINET 
 

COFNODION CYFARFOD O BELL A GYNHALIWYD  
TRWY MICROSOFT TEAMS   

AR DDYDD MERCHER, 21 GORFFENNAF 2021 AM 10.30 A.M. 
 

PRESENNOL: 
 

Cynghorydd P. Marsden (Arweinydd) - Cadeirydd 
 

Cynghorwyr: 
 

S. Cook (Gofal Cymdeithasol), N. George (Gwastraff, Diogelwch y Cyhoedd a Strydoedd), C. Gordon 

(Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol), L. Phipps (Tai), J. Pritchard (Isadeiledd ac Eiddo), E. Stenner 

(Perfformiad, yr Economi a Menter), A. Whitcombe (Cynaliadwyedd, Cynllunio a’r Fflyd) ac R. Whiting 

(Dysgu a Hamdden).  
 

Ynghyd â: 
 
 C. Harrhy (Prif Weithredwr) R. Edmunds (Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol – Addysg a 

Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol) D. Street (Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol – Gwasanaethau 
Cymdeithasol a Thai) ac M.S. Williams (Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol – Yr Economi a’r 
Amgylchedd).  

  
Hefyd yn Bresennol: 

 
R. Tranter (Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a Swyddog Monitro), S. Richards (Pennaeth 
Cynllunio a Strategaeth Addysg), H. Lancaster (Uwch Swyddog Cyfathrebu), V. Doyle 
(Swyddog Polisi), P. Warren (Swyddog Arweiniol Strategol dros Wella Ysgolion), P. O’Neill 
(Uwch Reolwr Gwasanaethau Ieuenctid), ), S. Ellis (Swyddog Arweiniol dros Gynhwysiant) M. 
Harris (Swyddog Cymorth Gwasanaethau Pwyllgor/Gyrrwr) ac E. Sullivan (Uwch Swyddog 
Gwasanaethau Pwyllgor).  
 
 
Y Cynghorydd C. Mann  

 

 
TREFNIADAU COFNODI A PHLEIDLEISIO 

 
Atgoffodd yr Arweinydd y rhai a oedd yn bresennol bod y cyfarfod yn cael ei ffilmio ond na 
fyddai’n cael ei ffrydio’n fyw, ond byddai recordiad ar gael yn dilyn y cyfarfod trwy wefan y 
Cyngor - – Cliciwch Yma i’w Wylio.  Dywedodd y byddai penderfyniadau'n cael eu gwneud 
trwy Microsoft Forms.   

 
 

1. YMDDIHEURIADAU AM ABSENOLDEB 
 

Derbyniwyd ymddiheuriad am absenoldeb gan S. Harris (Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Ariannol a 
Swyddog Adran 151) 
 
 

Page 1

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 3

https://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/My-Council/Meetings,-agendas,-minutes-and-reports/Council-meetings


  

 

2. DATGANIADAU O FUDDIANT 
 

Ni chafwyd unrhyw ddatganiadau o fuddiant ar ddechrau nac yn ystod y cyfarfod. 
 

 
3. CABINET – 7 GORFFENNAF 2021 
 

PENDERFYNWYD y dylid cymeradwyo cofnodion y cyfarfod a gynhaliwyd ar 7 

Gorffennaf 2021 fel cofnod cywir.  
 

 
4. BLAENRAGLEN WAITH Y CABINET – NODI 
 

Darparwyd Blaenraglen Waith i’r Cabinet, a oedd yn manylu ar yr adroddiadau a drefnwyd ar 
gyfer 29 Medi 2021. Atgoffwyd yr aelodau bod Blaenraglen Waith y Cabinet yn ddogfen waith 
ac felly'n destun newid. 
 
Ar ôl ystyriaeth a thrafodaeth, cynigiwyd ac eiliwyd i nodi’r Flaenraglen Waith, yn amodol ar yr 
adroddiad ychwanegol a enwyd. Cytunwyd yn unfrydol ar hyn trwy bleidlais o godi dwylo. 
 
Gofynnwyd i’r Cabinet ystyried ychwanegu eitem ar y Flaenraglen Waith ar gyfer cyfarfod y 
Cabinet ar 1 Medi 2021, sef adroddiad ar Montclaire Avenue – Atgyweirio Cwlfertau. 
 

PENDERFYNWYD nodi Blaenraglen Waith y Cabinet. 
 

 

5. CRONFA YMRYMUSO’R GYMUNED 
 
 Ystyriwyd adroddiad oedd yn cyflwyno ffordd arfaethedig o weithredu o ran cyflawni Cronfa 

Ymrymuso’r Gymuned newydd ac yn gofyn am gadarnhad i’w meini prawf arfaethedig a 
threfniadau rheoli grantiau. Gofynnwyd barn y Cabinet ar y gefnogaeth briodol roedd ei 
hangen i alluogi Aelodau Etholedig i fod yn bencampwyr effeithiol i Gronfa Ymrymuso’r 
Gymuned ar draws eu cymunedau.  

 
 Nododd y Cabinet bod y Cyngor yn canolbwyntio ar gryfhau ymhellach y perthnasau 

rhyngddo a’i gymunedau, ei drigolion, busnesau a grwpiau gwirfoddol a chymunedol. Roedd  
            o fudd i Fwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili fod ganddi sector gwirfoddol a chymunedol fywiog a 

gweithredol, sy’n cynnig cyfle sylweddol i gael gymaint ag y bo modd o gyfranogiad 
cymunedol.   

 
 Cyfeiriwyd at yr arolwg diweddar o’r trigolion, ‘Trafodaeth Caerffili’, lle'r oedd 78% o’r rhai a 

ymatebodd yn teimlo ei bod yn awgrym cadarnhaol i wneud cyllideb gymunedol ar gael i 
drigolion, er mwyn eu galluogi i wneud mwy o bethau drostynt eu hunain yn y dyfodol. Roedd 
89% hefyd yn cytuno y byddai cynnig cymhellion i gymunedau’n debygol o’u hannog i gymryd 
mwy o falchder yn eu hardal.   

 
 Roedd yr adroddiad yn disgrifio ffordd arfaethedig o weithredu’r gronfa, ynghyd â drafft o 

ffurflen gais, canllawiau i’r gronfa a chanllawiau drafft ar gyfer Aelodau Ward. 
 
 Gofynnwyd am eglurhad sef a allai Canolfannau Cymunedol a Phwyllgorau Rhandiroedd 

wneud cais i’r gronfa. Atebwyd y gallent wneud cais cyn belled ag y bo gan y grwpiau hynny 
gyfansoddiad ffurfiol.    

 
 Gofynnwyd hefyd a allai Cynghorau Cymuned wneud cais. Eglurwyd na allent wneud cais ond 

y gallent chwarae rhan bwysig mewn codi ymwybyddiaeth o’r gronfa a chanfod pa grwpiau 
cymunedol allai wneud cais a chael budd ohono.  

 

Page 2



  

 Trafododd y Cabinet yr oblygiadau ar gyfer noddi gan Aelodau o’r Fwrdeistref Sirol, o ran 
datgan budd. Dywedodd y Swyddog Monitro y byddai angen i Aelodau fod yn ofalus yn hynny, 
a sicrhau eu bod yn cwblhau ffurflen datgan budd i egluro eu cysylltiad a’u budd yn y grŵp 
oedd yn cael ei noddi. Nodwyd y byddai canllawiau Datgan Budd yn rhan o’r rhaglen hyfforddi 
ehangach ar Gronfa Ymrymuso’r Gymuned, fyddai’n digwydd trwy gydol yr haf. Rhoddwyd 
sicrhad na fyddai unrhyw ddatganiad o’r fath yn atal nac yn anghymwyso grŵp lle'r oedd 
Cynghorydd yn aelod etholedig o’r pwyllgor. Awgrymodd y Swyddog Monitro y dylai Aelodau 
gysylltu ag ef i gael cyngor os oeddent yn ansicr o natur y budd. 

  
 Nododd y Cabinet bod y Gronfa’n elfen bwysig o’r Strategaeth Trawsnewid, trwy gyflawni 

prosiectau lleol a enwyd gan y trigolion eu hunain. Byddai Aelodau Etholedig fel Arweinyddion 
Cymunedol yn chwarae rhan hanfodol mewn codi proffil y cynllun hwn, allai wneud 
gwahaniaeth anhygoel i gymunedau.  Nodwyd y byddai llawer o waith caled o ran gweinyddu’r 
gronfa ac y byddai’r lefel o gefnogaeth roedd ei angen ar gyfer prosesu yn cael ei fonitro. 

 
 Cofnododd y Cabinet eu diolchgarwch i Swyddogion am yr holl waith caled yn dod â’r 

adroddiad ymlaen, a chroesawyd y cynllun hwn fel ffordd o ymrymuso a chyfoethogi 
cymunedau. Roedd modd cymryd perchnogaeth o brosiectau oedd o bwys i gymunedau, a 
phwysleisiwyd pwysigrwydd tynnu sylw at y gronfa fel nad oedd grwpiau cymunedol yn colli’r 
cyfle cyffrous hwn. 

  
 Ar ôl ystyried a thrafod, cynigiwyd ac eiliwyd i gymeradwyo’r argymhellion yn yr adroddiad. 
Cytunwyd yn unfrydol ar hyn, trwy bleidlais electronig.  

 
 

PENDERFYNWYD: - 
 
1. Cadarnhau’r ffordd arfaethedig o weithredu Cronfa Ymrymuso’r Gymuned a’r meini 

prawf ariannu a’r trefniadau i reoli grantiau ar gyfer y gronfa.  
 

2. Nodi barn y Cabinet ar y gefnogaeth briodol i alluogi Aelodau Etholedig i fod yn 
bencampwyr effeithiol i Gronfa Ymrymuso’r Gymuned ar draws eu cymunedau.  
 

3. Cefnogi adolygu Cronfa Ymrymuso’r Gymuned ar ôl 12 mis, er mwyn adolygu faint 
o ddefnydd a wnaethpwyd o’r gronfa hyn hynny a chanfod a lliniaru unrhyw 
rwystrau i’r cynllun ddoi i’r golwg.  

 
 
 

6. COMPENDIWM CYNHWYSIANT 
 
 Ystyriwyd adroddiad oedd yn gofyn i’r Cabinet gadarnhau’r Compendiwm Cynhwysiant 

newydd.  
 
 Dywedwyd wrth y Cabinet y datblygwyd y Strategaeth mewn ymgynghoriad gyda Staff 

Awdurdod Lleol, ysgolion, rhieni, gofalwyr, plant, Llywodraethwyr a phartneriaid o Iechyd a 
Gofal Cymdeithasol. 

 
 Roedd y Strategaeth yn edrych ar rolau a chyfrifoldebau ysgolion a phartneriaethau allweddol 

gyda’r Gwasanaeth Cyflawni Addysg (GCA), gwasanaethau lleol a rhanbarthol, ysgolion, 
lleoliadau gofal plant a lleoliadau addysg eraill. Gwnâi hynny gan bwysleisio pwysigrwydd 
gweithio gyda’i gilydd i ddeall a chefnogi anghenion pob plentyn a’r ymrwymiad i'r rhai oedd 
fwyaf bregus. 

 
  
 
 

Page 3



  

 Cyfeiriwyd y Cabinet at Atodiadau 3-9 o’r adroddiad, oedd yn cynnwys y pecyn o ddogfennau 
yr oedd y Strategaeth Cynhwysiant yn sail iddynt. Nodwyd y gellid edrych ar y strategaeth fel 
dogfen oedd yn sefyll ar ei phen ei hunan neu fel rhan o’r compendiwm cyfan.  

             
            Cyflwynodd Sarah Ellis (Pennaeth Cynhwysiant) grynodeb o’r Compendiwm Cynhwysiant a’i 

hanes hyd yma. Nododd y Cabinet sut yr oedd Prifathrawon, Llywodraethwyr, Cydweithwyr 
Addysg a Phobl Ifanc yn ymwneud â hyn. Hefyd sut gai ei ddefnyddio i drawsnewid y sefyllfa 
o fod pobl yn cael eu cau allan i sefyllfa o gael eu cynnwys, a sicrhau deilliannau i blant a 
phobl ifanc, gyda llesiant a’u perthynas gyda phobl eraill yn greiddiol iddo. 

 
  Cofnododd y Cabinet ei ddiolchgarwch i bawb fu’n cymryd rhan yn y darn eithriadol hwn o 

waith, gan gydnabod yr heriau wrth ddod â ffyrdd o weithredu at ei gilydd a fyddai’n galluogi 
ysgolion ac yn rhoi’r grym iddynt i ddarparu’r gefnogaeth gywir i’r bobl gywir ar yr adeg iawn.  

 
 Cofnododd y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol dros Addysg a Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol hefyd ei 

ddiolch i bawb oedd wedi gweithio mor galed ar y strategaeth. Pwysleisiodd bod y 
compendiwm yn tynnu at ei gilydd bawb oedd yn gweithio ar y cyd i sicrhau’r gorau bosibl i’r 
dysgwyr, wrth iddynt symud o gael eu cau allan i gael eu cynnwys. Dywedodd ei fod yn 
enghraifft aruthrol o ethos Tîm Caerffili.   

 
Ar ôl ystyried a thrafod, cynigiwyd ac eiliwyd i gymeradwyo’r argymhelliad yn yr adroddiad. 
Cytunwyd yn unfrydol ar hyn, trwy bleidlais electronig.  
 
 

PENDERFYNWYD cadarnhau’r Compendiwm Cynhwysiant. 
 

 

7. STRATEGAETH YMGYSYLLTU A DILYNIANT (NEET) 
 

Ystyriwyd adroddiad yn gofyn i’r Cabinet gymeradwyo’r Strategaeth Ymgysylltu a Dilyniant 
(NEET – Pobl nad ydynt mewn Addysg Cyflogaeth neu Hyfforddiant) a materion cysylltiedig.  
 
Nododd y Cabinet y datblygwyd y strategaeth NEET mewn ymgynghoriad â Staff Awdurdod 
Lleol, Prifathrawon, Pobl Ifanc ac aelodau o fframwaith Ymgysylltu a Dilyniant Caerffili. Roedd 
yn datgan yn eglur sut roedd pawb oedd yn rhan o hyn yn bwriadu ymdrin ar y cyd â’r 
materion cysylltiedig ar draws nifer o wahanol asiantaethau. Roedd yn ogystal yn rhoi 
amlinelliad o pam fod rhai pobl ifanc yn mynd yn NEET, a’r canlyniadau’n gysylltiedig â hynny. 
 
Roedd y Strategaeth ar sail gwybodaeth oddi wrth gynlluniau allweddol mewnol ac allanol, yn 
ogystal â bod Estyn yn canolbwyntio fwyfwy ar berfformiad ysgolion uwchradd ac 
Awdurdodau Lleol o ran sicrhau cyrchfannau priodol i bobl ifanc 16 oed a hŷn. 
 
Dywedwyd wrth y Cabinet bod y strategaeth, fel datganiad o fwriad yn sefyll ar ei ben ei 
hunan, yn ceisio darparu sylw ar y cyd gan yr holl wahanol wasanaethau oedd yn cyfrannu 
ato i beth ddigwyddai i bobl ifanc fyddent fel arall efallai ddim yn trosglwyddo’n llwyddiannus i’r 
6ed Dosbarth, Addysg Bellach, dysgu ar sail gwaith neu gyflogaeth, ac a fyddent fel arall yn 
ymddieithrio oddi wrth eu cymunedau a chymdeithas. Fodd bynnag, gyda’r ddogfen graidd 
roedd hefyd adnoddau ategol i gynorthwyo, fel sail i natur yr ymdrech ar y cyd trwy ddiffinio 
rolau a chyfrifoldebau’r gwasanaethau oedd yn cyfrannu mewn perthynas â phobl ifanc NEET, 
a chynnig canllawiau o ran gweithrediad y gwahanol systemau cysylltiedig.  
 
Gofynnwyd am eglurhad a oedd y dewis o hyfforddiant galwedigaethol yn cael sylw, a nodwyd 
y byddai’r holl ddewisiadau priodol yn wir yn rhan bwysig o’r strategaeth. Dywedwyd wrth y 
Cabinet y cai adroddiad pellach ei gyflwyno yn yr Hydref, yn rhoi manylion o’r gwaith oedd yn 
mynd ymlaen yn gyfredol ar wefan wedi’i dylunio’n benodol i gyd-fynd gyda’r strategaeth. 
Byddai’r llwyfan hwnnw’n darparu mynediad at bob gweithgaredd galwedigaethol ac addysgol 
oedd ar gael i bobl ifanc, a byddai hefyd ar gael i rieni ac athrawon. Gobeithiai swyddogion 
gyflwyno model o ‘Lwybrau Caerffili’ i’r Cabinet yn yr Hydref. 

Page 4



  

Pwysleisiwyd pa mor bwysig oedd rhoi’r grym i bobl ifanc fedru cael mynediad at y math yma 
o wybodaeth, gan ei bod yn rhoi’r arfau iddynt fedru gwneud dewisiadau am eu dyfodol ar sail 
gwybodaeth dda.   
 
Cofnododd y Cabinet eu diolchgarwch i bawb oedd yn ymwneud â’r strategaeth, a’i 
chroesawu fel fframwaith ar gyfer llwyddiant, yn darparu cyfleoedd i newid bywydau ar gyfer 
ein dysgwyr mwyaf bregus.  
 
Ar ôl ystyried a thrafod, cynigiwyd ac eiliwyd i gymeradwyo’r argymhelliad yn yr adroddiad. 
Cytunwyd yn unfrydol ar hyn, trwy bleidlais electronig.   
 

PENDERFYNWYD cymeradwyo’r Strategaeth Ymgysylltu a Dilyniant (NEET) newydd.   
 

 
Daeth y cyfarfod i ben am 11.30am 

 

Cymeradwywyd a llofnodwyd fel cofnod cywir yn amodol ar wneud unrhyw gywiriadau yn y 
cyfarfod a gynhelir ar 1 Medi 2021. 
 

____________________ 
CADEIRYDD 

Page 5



Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Page 6



Cabinet Forward Work Programme – September 2021 

 

01/09/2021 
10:30 

Car Parking Charges For Cabinet to consider the future of car parking 
charges in town centre car parks after the period 
of free parking which expires on 30th September 
2021. 
  
  

Williams, Mark S; Cllr. Pritchard, James; 

01/09/2021 
10:30 

Strategic Framework for Recovery - 
Progress 

To provide Cabinet with a progress update in 
relation to the Covid Recovery Framework. 

Harrhy, Christina; Cllr. Marsden, Philippa; 

01/09/2021 
10:30 

Managing Service Risk at Alert Level Zero To set out a potential framework against which the 
risks of reopening Council premises that are 
currently closed to the public can be assessed and 
to propose a process for managing and monitoring 
the situation moving forwards. 

Edmunds, Richard (Ed); Cllr. Gordon, Colin J; 

15/09/2021 
10:30 

Regeneration Board - Project Proposals To recommend the allocation of up to £130,000 
from the Regeneration Project Board Development 
Fund towards two recently endorsed and 
evaluated project proposals; (i) Risca – 
Redevelopment of Strategic Town Centre site 
(Feasibility & Master-planning); (ii) Bargoed Empty 
Property Enforcement Action Plan. 

Kyte, Rhian; Cllr. Stenner, Eluned; 

15/09/2021 
10:30 

Welsh Government Prospectus and 
Social Housing Grant Programme 
Delivery Plan (PDP)  

 To seek Cabinet approval for the distribution of 
SHG (Social Housing Grant) and the Prospectus 
document requirement by Welsh Government. 

Roberts-Waite, Jane; Cllr. Phipps, Lisa; 

15/09/2021 
10:30 

Staff Benefits Scheme To seek Cabinet approval of a new staff benefits 
and reward platform and further recognition of 
long service. 

Donovan, Lynne; Cllr. Gordon, Colin J; 

29/09/2021 
10:30 

Workforce Development Strategy To seek Cabinet approval of the Workforce 
Development Strategy 2021 - 24. 

Donovan, Lynne; Cllr. Gordon, Colin J; 

29/09/2021 
10:30 

Well-Being Strategy 2021 - 24 To seek Cabinet approval of the Wellbeing Strategy 
2021 - 24. 

Donovan, Lynne; Cllr. Gordon, Colin J; 

29/09/2021 
10:30 

Montclaire Avenue - Culvert Report To seek Cabinet approval to fund the culvert 
repair. 

Street, Dave; Cllr. Phipps, Lisa; 

 

P
age 7 E

item
 A

r Y
r A

genda 4



G
adew

ir y dudalen hon yn w
ag yn fw

riadol

P
age 8



 
 
 

CABINET – 1ST SEPTEMBER 2021 
 

SUBJECT: CAR PARKING CHARGES 
 
REPORT BY:  CORPORATE DIRECTOR FOR ECONOMY AND ENVIRONMENT 
 

 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 
1.1 To update Cabinet on the latest position with the Economic impact on town centres 

caused by the coronavirus pandemic and to seek a Cabinet steer on a further period 
of free car parking to support the local economy. 

 
 

2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 Many businesses within the County Borough have faced significant challenges as a 

result of Covid-19 and the lockdown and/or trading restrictions that have resulted.  This 
includes many town centre businesses and particularly the town centre hospitality 
sector. 

 
2.2 Supporting town centres is a key feature of the Council’s over-arching regeneration 

strategy (A Foundation for Success) the Area Regeneration Masterplans that sit under 
the over-arching strategy and its Covid economic recovery plan. 

 
2.3 The length of Welsh Government lockdown periods and the resultant restrictions on 

the retail and hospitality sector have placed significant pressure on the high street and 
businesses within our town centres.  This has continued to make the economic position 
extremely challenging for our town centre businesses. The Welsh Government easing 
of restrictions from 7th August 2021 signals the real start of recovery which will see our 
town centre businesses try to recover from the economic impact of the pandemic over 
the coming months. 

  
2.4 On 17th June 2020 the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader, Cabinet 

Members and Acting Section 151 Officer took a delegated powers decision to 
temporarily suspend car parking charges until 31st December 2020 as part of the Covid 
economic recovery plan.  On 9th December 2020 Cabinet took a further decision to 
extend the suspension of car parking charges until 31st March 2021.  On 24th March 
2021 Cabinet reviewed the position again and took a further decision to continue the 
suspension of car parking charges until 30th September 2021. 

 
2.5 In light of the continued economic challenges and continued imposition of trading 

restrictions this report therefore seeks the thoughts of Cabinet on whether to continue 
with the suspension of car parking charges beyond 30th September 2021. 

Page 9

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 5



3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 It is recommended that Cabinet: -  

 
3.1.1 Agrees to extend the period of free car parking in town centres for a further 12 

months until 30th September 2022. 
 
3.1.2 Agrees that the projected income shortfall of £660k is funded from the previously 

approved Covid-19 Earmarked Reserve. 
 
3.1.3 Requests the Joint Scrutiny cross party task and finish group to undertake a 

further review of town centre car parking charges in light of the effects of the 
pandemic on the economy of our town centres.  

 
3.1.4  Agrees that the residents’ season ticket only use of the three car parks in 

Blackwood (Gordon Road, Libanus and Highland Terrace) should be removed 
for the duration of the free parking. 

 
 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 To support the Authority’s local town centre economy in the current, challenging 

economic climate and to support local residents in “staying local” for shopping.  
 
 
5. THE REPORT 
 
5.1 As outlined above, the economic climate remains extremely challenging for town 

centres and the continued use of lockdown and/or trading restrictions is contributing 
to the challenging economic trading conditions. This is illustrated by the town centre 
footfall graphs below: 

 

 
 
 

Page 10



 
  
5.2 One of the key messages in the fight against Covid-19 has been “stay local” which 

equally applies to shopping and routine, daily exercise.  

5.3 One of the key ways in which the Authority has assisted in supporting this “stay local” 

message is to offer residents the benefit of free car parking at its town centre car 

parks.  

5.4 As the Authority has previously committed to offer free car parking at its Town 
Centres until 30th September 2021, a new decision is required which takes the 
Authority beyond this date and this report therefore seeks the view of Cabinet with 
regard to the period beyond the 30th September 2021. 

 
5.5 In considering a new decision it is important that Cabinet are aware of the options 

available and potential risks associated with these options. 
 
5.6  On 15th December 2020 a joint task and finish group of the Environment and 

Sustainability and Regeneration and Housing Scrutiny Committees presented its final 
report to a joint meeting of both Scrutiny Committees. 

 
5.7 At this meeting the joint Scrutiny Committee agreed 16 recommendations for 

consideration by Cabinet.  The key recommendations in relation to car park charges 
at Town Centre car parks were: 

 

 Standardisation of hourly tariffs for short and long term parking. 

 Installation of new, modern pay and display machines capable of card and 
cash payment. 

 
5.8 These new pay and display (P&D) machines were ordered and installed in the first 

quarter of 2021 at a cost of circa £300k (with Welsh Government Grant Support of 
£170k).  These machines are subject to 12 months warranty but as yet have not 
been tested due to tariff free parking being in existence. Officers have explored 
whether the machines could be used to issue tickets without any charge, and while 
this is possible with some reconfiguration of the machines / software, it is considered 

Page 11



that the potential cost and resource implications would outweigh any benefits and 
make it an unviable option.   

 
5.9  It should also be noted that this requires a new Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) to be 

put in place which would take circa 6 months to achieve. Furthermore, in order to 
issue tickets without any charge the P&D machines would need to be recalibrated 
and the tariff signs would need to be amended, the total cost of which would be 
approximately £16K.  Valuable staff resources (approximately 4 hours per week) 
would also be taken up in restocking the machines and dealing with complaints.  
There is also a risk that certain mischievous individuals could obtain an infinite 
number of tickets for their own amusement. 

 
5.10 In the event that car parking charges were to be removed on a permanent basis then 

it is likely that the £170k Welsh Government Grant would need to be repaid. 
 
5.11 As outlined above, the economic impact of Covid-19 is still being felt by town centre 

businesses and the future of town centres is likely to change forever in light of the 
influence of Covid-19 in areas such as on-line shopping.  Consequently, the future 
“look and feel” of our town centres is likely to change as they re-model themselves in 
a post covid recovery world which will take time.  

 
5.12 Given that there is a long and complex legal process required to make changes to 

car park tariffs, times etc. (referred to as a TRO process) then Cabinet only has 2 
options from 1st October 2021.  These options are: 

 
i). Re-introduce charges in line with the County Borough wide tariff joint 

Scrutiny recommendation. 
ii). Continue with an extended period of free town centre parking subject to 

further review.  
 
The advantages and disadvantages of these options are set out below in order that 
an informed decision can be made by Cabinet. 

 
5.13 Re-introduction of Charges 
 
5.13.1 Advantages  
 

 Avoids loss of income of circa £55k per month 

 Increases “churn” in town centre car parks and avoids valuable shopper 
spaces being taken by employees parking all day (this issue is currently 
the subject of a number of complaints in Blackwood and Caerphilly). 

 Allows the new pay and display machines to be used and tested while still 
under 12 months warranty. 

 
5.13.2  Disadvantages   
 

 Anecdotally at odds with assisting town centre businesses to recover from 
the economic impact of Covid. 

 Introduction of charges from 1st October 2021 may not allow sufficient 
time for new town centre models to become embedded in a post Covid 
recovery landscape.  
 

 
 

Page 12



5.14 Extending the Period of Free Town Centre Parking 
 
5.14.1 Advantages  
 

 May assist town centre businesses with recovery from the economic 
impacts of Covid. 

 Allows for a further review (possibly by the Scrutiny cross party task and 
finish group) of a future town centre car park charging strategy. 

 Potential alignment with town centre re-modelling/Covid recovery 
strategy. 

 
5.14.2  Disadvantages   
 

 Loss of income of circa £55k per month. 

 New pay and display machines would remain unused, untested and the 
12 month manufacturer warranty would expire (dependent on the period 
involved). 

 Will not stimulate “churn” in short term town centre visitor parking. 

 Enables employees to park free of charge all day using valuable town 
centre visitor car parking spaces with no mechanism in place to control 
this practice. Complaints from residents of overspill parking would 
continue. 

 
5.15 Residents’ Season Tickets 
 
5.15.1 There are three car parks in Blackwood (Gordon Road, Libanus and Highland 

Terrace) which are reserved for resident season ticket holders for which the cost of 
an annual permit is £93.  This charge has been suspended since the start of the 
pandemic and usage of the car parks has not been restricted / non-residents have 
been able to use the facilities.  Although we have received a small number of 
complaints from residents about non-residents using the facilities, there are a number 
of alternate car parks located in close proximity (Market Traders, Thorncombe Road 
2 and Woodbine Road) which can be used by residents if/when there are no spaces 
available.  It is considered that it would not be appropriate to issue free resident 
season tickets whilst the parking charges are suspended as this would not be 
consistent with the current on-street parking regime where residents are still required 
to pay £15 for a residents’ parking permit. Consequently recommendation 3.1.4 
(above) clarifies this matter. 

 
5.16 CONCLUSION  
 
 Clearly the economic impact of Covid-19 has been felt by Town Centre Businesses 

and the re-modelling of town centres is at the heart of assisting businesses to 
recover.  However, this will take time to achieve and any decision relating to car 
parking charges is an important consideration in this context. 

 
 As can be seen from this report, there are a number of advantages and 

disadvantages attached to re-introducing or continuing with the suspension of car 
parking charges and it is important that all of these factors are considered in the 
decision making process. 

 

 

 

 

Page 13



 

6. ASSUMPTIONS 

6.1 The report has assumed that the challenging economic climate for businesses and 
residents may last beyond September 2021 but this will need to be kept under 
review. 

 
 
7.  SUMMARY OF INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESMENT 
 
7.1 The report links to a number of corporate well-being objectives, namely. 
 

 Objective 2 – Enabling employment. 

 Objective 4 – Promote a modern integrated and sustainable transport system 
that increases opportunity, promotes prosperity and minimises the adverse 
impacts on the environment.  

 Objective 5 – Creating a County Borough that supports a healthy lifestyle in 
accordance with the sustainable development principle within the Wellbeing 
of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 

 Objective 5 – Support citizens to remain independent and improve their well-
being. 

 
7.2 Economic Recovery contributes to the Well-being objectives as set out above. It is 

consistent with the five ways of working as defined within the sustainable 
development principle in the Act and it is aimed at improving the economic, 
environmental, social and cultural well-being and recovery of the area. 

 
7.3 As such it aligns with the following well-being goals: 

 A Prosperous Wales – Providing more jobs and housing in the area will create 
more wealth for the local population. 

 A Resilient Wales – Providing additional and more diverse employment will make 
the area more resilient to external economic factors. 

 A Wales of Cohesive Communities – providing local employment and more 
diverse will help to stabilise and develop local communities and prevent 
outmigration.  

 
7.4 The report’s recommendations are consistent with the five ways of working as 

defined within the sustainable development principle in the Act.  The five ways of 
working of the sustainable development principle, listed in the Act are: 

 

 Long Term – The importance of balancing short-term needs with the need to 
safeguard the ability of future generations to meet their long-term needs; 

 Prevention - How acting to prevent problems getting worse, may help public 
bodies meet their objectives; 

 Integration – Considering how the public body’s well-being objectives may 
impact upon each of the well-being goals, on their other objectives, or on the 
objectives of other public bodies; 

 Collaboration – Acting in collaboration with any other person (or different 
parts of the body itself) that could help the body to meet its well-being 
objectives; 

 Involvement – The importance of involving people with an interest in 
achieving the well-being goals, and ensuring that those people reflect the 
diversity of the area which the body serves. 

 

Page 14



7.5 No Integrated Impact Assessment has been completed.  On 17th June 2020 the Chief 
Executive, in consultation with the Leader, Cabinet Members and Acting Section 151 
Officer took a delegated powers decision to temporarily suspend car parking charges 
until 31st December 2020 as part of the Covid economic recovery plan.  On 9th 
December 2020 Cabinet took a further decision to extend the suspension of car parking 
charges until 31st March 2021 (links to the reports are as follows).  On 24th March 2021 
Cabinet reviewed the position again and took a further decision to continue the 
suspension of car parking charges until 30th September 2021. 

 

Link to Cabinet report 9th December 2020 
 

Link to Cabinet report 24th March 2021 
 
 

7.6 In light of the continued economic challenges and continued imposition of trading 
restrictions this report therefore seeks the support of Cabinet on continuing with the 
suspension of car parking charges beyond 30th September 2021. 

 
 
8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 Any extension of free parking beyond September 2021 will result in lost income of circa 

£55k per month. The loss of income is not eligible for funding through the WG Covid-
19 Hardship Fund as the waiving of the charges is deemed to be a local decision. 

 
8.2 The lost income for the 2020/21 financial year was absorbed within the wider 

underspend on the Council’s revenue budget. 
 
8.3 The lost income for the period 1st April 2021 to 30th September 2021 has been funded 

from the Covid-19 Earmarked Reserve, as approved by Cabinet at its meeting on the 
24th March 2021. 

 
8.4 The projected loss of income for the period 1st October 2021 to 30th September 2022 

is £660k. Cabinet is asked to consider a recommendation that this shortfall is also 
funded from the Covid-19 Earmarked Reserve. 

 
8.5  As outlined above there is likely to be a requirement to refund the £170k WG grant 

received for the new pay and display machines in the event that free town centre car 
parking becomes permanent.  

 
 
9. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 There are no personnel implications associated with this report. 
 
 
10. CONSULTATIONS 
 
10.1 The report reflects the view of the listed consultees 
 
 
11. STATUTORY POWER  
 
11.1 Local Welsh Government Act 2000.  This is a Cabinet function. 
 

Page 15

https://sc-aptdmod2.corporate.group.local/documents/s33752/Car%20Parking%20Charges.pdf
https://scaptdmod2.corporate.group.local/documents/s34824/Car%20Parking%20Charges.pdf


 
12. URGENCY   
 
12.1 All Cabinet decisions will be subject to a “call-in” procedure whereby the relevant 

Scrutiny Committee can ask for the implementation of the decision to be delayed until 
it has considered the matter and, if the Scrutiny Committee is so inclined, to ask 
Cabinet to reconsider its decision.  

 
 
Author:  Mark S Williams, Corporate Director for Economy and Environment       
 
Consultees: Councillor James Pritchard, Deputy Leader & Cabinet Member for 

Infrastructure and Property 
 Councillor Eluned Stenner, Cabinet Member for Performance, Economy & 

Enterprise 
Robert Tranter, Head of Legal Services and Monitoring Officer 
Stephen Harris, Head of Financial Services & S151 Officer 
Marcus Lloyd, Head of Infrastructure 
Clive Campbell, Transportation Engineering Manager 
Dean Smith, Principle Engineer, Traffic Management 
Rhian Kyte, Head of Regeneration and Planning 
Councillor Tudor Davies, Chair of Environment & Sustainability Scrutiny 
Councillor Adrian Hussey, Vice Chair of Environment & Sustainability Scrutiny 
Councillor John Ridgewell, Chair of Housing & Regeneration Scrutiny 
Councillor Mike Adams, Vice Chair of Housing & Regeneration Scrutiny 

 
Background Papers: 
 
Council 6th October 2020 – Report on “Decisions taken by the Chief Executive During the 
Pandemic”. 
 
Cabinet 9th December 2020 – Car Parking Charges 
 
Cabinet 24th March 2021 – Car Parking Charges  
 
 
 

Page 16



 
 
 

CABINET – 1ST SEPTEMBER 2021 
 

   

SUBJECT:     STRATEGIC FRAMEWORK FOR RECOVERY - PROGRESS 

  

REPORT BY:  CHIEF EXECUTIVE   
 

 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 
1.1 To update Cabinet on the progress made against the Strategic Recovery Framework 

agreed in September 2020 and to adopt some measures of success that will enable 
future progress to be assessed.   

 
 

2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1   The Covid 19 pandemic has provided an unprecedented set of challenges to the 

Council and the communities of Caerphilly since March 2020. During this period the 
Council has focused on decisions and interventions designed to protect our people and 
our place.   

  

2.2  In September 2020, Cabinet adopted a Strategic Recovery Framework that provided 
an overarching framework through which the Council and its communities could work 
together to bring about a successful recovery. 

  

2.3  Twelve months on, the Council and the Communities of Caerphilly are still operating to 
a large extent in response to the pandemic. That said, some aspects of recovery have 
been possible and this report updates Cabinet on the progress made against the 
Strategic Recovery Framework over the last year. 

 
2.4 Moving forwards it is also important that the size and scale of our recovery can be 

objectively assessed and, with this in mind, a number of success measures have also 
been proposed within this report that will enable progress to be monitored. 

 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 That Cabinet:  
  

a) Note the progress made against the Strategic Recovery Framework for 

Caerphilly in the last twelve months 

 
b) Agree the proposed measures of success for monitoring progress set out in 5.9 

Page 17

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 6



  

 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 To keep Cabinet appraised of our progress against the Strategic Recovery Framework 

and to ensure future progress can be monitored effectively.  
 
 
5. THE REPORT 
 
5.1  The Strategic Recovery Framework was organised under two recovery aims and five 

strategic principles that would be used to focus the work of the organisation through 
the recovery period. While the Council’s six Wellbeing Objectives have been retained 
during this period the SRF has become the principal focus of the Council over the last 
twelve months. 

  

5.2 The two overarching Strategic Recovery Aims were agreed as follows:  
  

Recovery Aim 1 -  Reassure our communities and steady our economy to 

enable us to create together, a positive and vibrant future  

  

    Recovery aim 2 -   Reshape the organisation to proactively respond to     
       social, economic and environmental needs   

  

5.3  The five strategic principles were: 
 
 Strategic Principle 1 – Service Reintroduction  
 Strategic Principle 2 – Future Wave Preparation  
 Strategic Principle 3 – Supporting Businesses  
 Strategic Principle 4 – Caerphilly Cares  
 Strategic Principle 5 – Service Transformation 
 

 Over the coming paragraphs the progress made over the last twelve months is set 

 out against the relevant principle. 

 

5.4  PROGRESS AGAINST STRATEGIC PRINCIPLE 1 – SERVICE REINTRODUCTION  
 
 This principle was focused on the reintroduction of key services that had been paused 

or affected as part of the pandemic response. While any such reintroduction would 
need to take into consideration relevant guidance, regulations and risk assessments, it 
was also accepted that in some cases the services being reintroduced may not 
function in the same way that they had done prior to lockdown.  

  

  The projects and programmes that were included within the Service Reintroduction 
Principle and the progress made against them are set out below:  

  

5.4.1 Returning all learners to School (Primary, Secondary and Preschool Settings)  

 

 As schools returned for the new academic year in September 2020, a local lockdown 
 was announced for Caerphilly. 
 
 School communities had to ensure extra vigilance in regard to mitigation within their 

risk assessments and adjust to the Test Trace Protect (TTP) process for identifying 

Page 18



close contacts of pupils and staff.  Major decisions had to be made in the light of tighter 
risk assessments.  These included arrangements for Planning, Preparation and 
Assessment (PPA) cover, the status of breakfast clubs and the minimising of 
visitors/contractors onto sites. 

 
As numbers of positive cases increased across the Country and particularly our 
Borough, more and more schools were affected in regard to self-isolation, with 
headteachers on call to provide information to TTP out of hours.  Local Authority staff 
were also on call to support and a specialist headteacher helpline was introduced. 

 
 By December, secondary schools were directed to deliver remote learning and the LA 

agreed for primary and special schools to do this as well for the last two days of 
term.  The LA agreed to co-ordinate the provision of childcare for vulnerable children 
and those of key workers, although no applications were received. 

 
 Disruption of on-site learning continued until the summer term and this triggered Welsh 

Government to lead a working party in regard to assessment and qualifications.  The 
outcome of this was the Centre Determined Grades process which has just been 
completed by all secondary schools. 

 
 It is important to note that there were no school closures in Caerphilly during this 
 academic year in spite of significant levels of self-isolation among pupils and staff at 
 many settings. 
 
 As measures have been relaxed in Wales, headteachers await further guidance for the 

2021/22 autumn term.  There are still many uncertainties but schools, in partnership 
with the LA, are absolutely committed to ensure that pupils and staff remain as safe as 
possible on school sites and that pupils are offered high quality learning experiences 
which may well be remote in nature, at times. 

 

5.4.2 Recommencing Social Services Day Opportunities  

 

Day Opportunities began to recommence in August 2020 in the form of 1:1 sessions in 
the community. Initially, sessions were for those individuals rated red by Assessment 
Care Management Teams.  

 

As more staff were able to be returned to their substantive roles in day services the 
number of sessions was increased to include people rated as amber.  

 

Day services were provided in accordance with WG guidelines and were compliant 
with all stated measures  

 

In June 2021, two day bases were re-opened on a phased basis. The bases offered 
sessions to those people with complex needs whose outcomes could not be met in the 
community as they require access to specialist equipment for personal care  

 

Further proposals to reshape day services are currently being progressed. 

 

5.4.3 Increasing Respite Care for adults and children with a disability  

 

During the pandemic, the Montclaire adult respite facility remained open, albeit 
operating at a reduced capacity accommodating only two people at any one time for up 
to 3 nights. Since that time, the Council has also opened the Ty Gwilym facility and 
capacity has been increased in both locations.  

Page 19



 

Three people can now be supported in Mont Claire and two in Ty Gwilym. In July 2021 
the number of nights individuals can stay was increased and unpaid carers can now 
book for a week or more to cover their holidays. 

 The Ty Hapus children’s respite facility has remained open throughout the pandemic 

with attendance linked to school bubbles and hubs 

 

5.4.4 Recommencing Housing Non-Emergency Repairs  

 

On commencement of the first lockdown all non-emergency repairs to council stock 
ceased immediately. Understandably, many people would have been reluctant to have 
workman in their homes in the midst of a pandemic and the safety of our employees 
was paramount.  

 

Housing staff were redeployed across the authority and played a fundamental role in 
the inception of the buddy scheme and the delivery of free school meals and meals on 
wheels during that time. 

 

As soon as restrictions were lifted the Council recommenced non-urgent repairs but 
only with the consent of the tenants and with full risk assessments in place. Initially, 
there was some nervousness among tenants in allowing workmen back into their 
homes but this has reduced over time. 

 

Being unable to undertake non-essential repairs has created a significant backlog 
which now has to be worked through. At the current time, the Council has 260 work 
orders and 115 inspections outstanding. 

 

5.4.5 Recommencing Planning Enforcement  

 

 As part of its response to the COVID-19 crisis the development management and 
enforcement functions have been forced to operate in different ways, investing in 
paperless working, providing a different level of service with a focus on its statutory 
obligations as a priority.  Most staff delivering the planning and enforcement service 
can do so from their homes, and they will continue to do so. However, certain 
administrative functions such as receiving the post, printing letters or certain IT 
functions can only be undertaken by attending the office and staff are on a rota basis to 
continue with these aspects of the service.  
 
While all site visits on planning applications and enforcement complaints were initially 
suspended, WG advice is that such visits (where the purpose of the site visit could not 
be achieved through other means) are a reasonable excuse to travel for the purpose of 
the Coronavirus Regulations (as these cannot be conducted at home). Such visits 
continue to be carried out in compliance with the requirements of the Coronavirus 
Regulations and having regard to the Risk Assessments that have been put in place. 
 
The Planning Enforcement Service has continued to receive complaints electronically 
throughout the crisis (via our online complaints form), and Members will be aware that 
there is also a significant historic backlog of enforcement cases which will take some 
time to clear despite recent investment in the enforcement service.  Accordingly, 
officers are having to continue to prioritise their site visits and investigations to Priority 
1 cases as referred to in our Council Approved Planning Enforcement Charter.  There 
will therefore continue to be delays in progressing site visits on those cases which are 
not considered to be significant or urgent i.e. Priority 2 and 3 cases in the short to 
medium term while the backlog is being addressed. 

Page 20



 

5.4.6 Return to Full Decision-Making and Scrutiny  

 

 Decision Making and Democratic engagement was paused in response to the first 

lockdown between March and June 2019, with urgent decision making delegated to 

the Chief Executive.  

 

 Welsh Government introduced “The Local Authorities (Coronavirus) (Meetings) 

(Wales) Regulations 2020 which allowed remote meetings to take place. Cabinet 

meetings began again on June 24th and have continued regularly ever since. 

 

 Over the summer, all elected members were equipped and trained to participate in 

virtual meetings via the Teams platform paving the way for the remaining Committee 

and Decision-Making processes to be brought back on stream. 

 

 Full Council held its Annual General Meeting on the 3rd September and has met 

virtually and regularly ever since. 

 

 The Council’s five Scrutiny Committees were brought back on stream from September 

onwards and have met virtually and regularly ever since.  

 

 The Council’s regulatory and advisory committees are all now able to function virtually. 

 

 The Council is currently undertaking a procurement exercise to equip the Council 

Chamber at Ty Penallta to host hybrid meetings which will enable those Members 

wishing to attend physically to participate alongside those attending remotely. 

 

5.4.7 Reopening Libraries  

  
 In response to the Welsh Government COVID-19 instruction, Caerphilly Library 

services were paused on Friday 20th March 2020. 
 
 With reading benefitting lives, mental health and well-being it was crucial that library 

services were made available again as quickly as possible recognising that in some 
cases innovative new approaches would be required.   

    
In the first instance, the LibraryLink Home Delivery Service was reinstated. This 
required the creation of an online and telephone reservation system and resulted in 
thousands of book deliveries to vulnerable residents across the Authority during a key 
time in the pandemic.  
 
In order to then expand our services beyond our vulnerable residents, a new ‘order 
and collect’ facility was established to complement the deliveries.  The ability to order 
online and via the telephone and collect from Library buildings was then put in place 
across our sites. 
 
Whilst physical Library buildings remained closed, the service looked to maximise the 
use of online and digital contact with customers. The eDigital service, which supports 
access to e-books, saw usage increase by 59.57% on the previous year with 82,721 
downloads recorded. 

 

Page 21



In May 2021, Library buildings re-opened for appointment based browsing in 
accordance with a set of robust risk assessments and safe systems of work designed 
to keep our staff and residents as safe as possible. 
 
At the time of writing, further risk assessments are being undertaken to reinstate wider 
library services and offer wider access to our buildings. 
 

 A number of the service changes that have been introduced throughout the pandemic 

have proved popular with our customers and will now be embedded within our future 

Library Services service delivery model. 

 

5.4.8 Reopening Leisure Centres  

 

 March 2020 presented a range of unprecedented challenges for Sport & Leisure 
Services and the residents of Caerphilly County Borough. The cessation of the sport 
and leisure provision in accordance with Welsh Government guidance resulted in the 
service staff being initially redeployed to support the continued delivery of key and 
essential services in accordance with the Team Caerphilly ethos and application. 

 
           This included the provision and delivery of free school meals, supporting the 

implementation and delivery of the Test, Trace & Protect service, supporting the 
reopening of Household Waste Recycling Centres, assisting with community support 
programme for vulnerable residents. 

 
 Sport & Leisure Services quickly flexed and adapted services through efficient and 

targeted communications to ensure that residents were able to continue to engage with 
and participate in sport and active recreation. Examples included: 

 

 the development of a dedicated free to access You Tube channel providing a range 
of Group Exercise classes that would traditionally be available in leisure centres 

 enhanced developments to the Leisure Lifestyle ‘app’ to support digital access and 
engagement – resulting in close to 15,000 downloads 

 targeted provision of bespoke activity for customers registered on the National 
Exercise Referral programme. This included virtual and hard copy resources 

 school holiday programmes delivered virtually in collaboration with a range of local 
clubs and organisations 

 ongoing and regular communication with key user groups and National Governing 
Bodies 

 a collaboration with other local authorities in Gwent to provide an ‘open 

membership’ for residents to visit their nearest facility (when appropriate) to reduce 

travel requirements and comply with Welsh Government guidance 

             

From early January 2021 in partnership with Aneurin Bevan University Health Board   
Sport & Leisure staff, supported the initial setting up and organising throughput of 
arrivals at the Mass Vaccination Centre at Newbridge Leisure Centre. A truly humbling 
experience for all staff involved. 

 

As restrictions eased, public health conditions created an environment where leisure     
centres could re-open and essential health and wellbeing services resumed, albeit in a 
cautious and incremental manner. 

 

Four leisure centres opened initially, Caerphilly, Risca, Heolddu and Cefn Fforest 
supported by robust safety and communication measures that included, a ‘what to 

Page 22



expect’ customer video, advance prebooking, non - cash payments, restricted capacity 
and enhanced cleaning regimes. 

 

The measures were established to ensure the safety of all staff and customers, along 
with ensuring that the level of public confidence in services being provided remained 
positive. Customer feedback received through then Net Promotor Score process has 
been extremely positive with the safety measures exceptionally well received. 

 

Further easing of restrictions, supported by continued high levels of customer 
confidence, supported the reopening of full leisure centre portfolio, along with the 
reintroduction of a broader range of activity and increased capacity. 

 

With the recent move to Alert Level O in Wales, all leisure centres are now providing 
the full range of activities that have traditionally been available. Retaining customer 
confidence remains an essential component of service delivery, and in that context 
further easing of restrictions and increases in capacity will be managed incrementally 
and supported by robust risk assessments and acknowledgement of then prevailing 
public health conditions. 

 
A number of the, particularly digital, initiatives will remain in place post pandemic as 
approaches to engagement in sport and active recreation change. Along with the 
increased focus of the benefits of leading healthy lifestyles, the service is well placed to 
deliver upon the ambition set out in the Sport & Active Recreation Strategy (SARS).  

 

5.4.9 Youth Service Provision  

 

 Over the last twelve months, Caerphilly Youth Service has continued to provide for the 
inclusion of young people, with particular focus on those disengaged from education and 
their local community.  Directly supporting the majority of vulnerable learners, specialist 
teams within the Youth Service have continued to support on both a one-to-one and 
group basis with various groups such as: 

 

 NEET or potentially at risk of NEET status; 

 Homeless or potentially homeless; 

 LGBT young people (understood to be at higher risk from mental health issues and 
homelessness, for example); 

 Children Looked After; 

 Young people who have experienced trauma. 
 

 Youth workers have maintained contact with vulnerable young people and their families 
either through risk assessed face-to-face meetings or online.  Contact has been 
sustained during the periods of school closures and school holidays, maintaining the 
support necessary for the most disadvantaged and vulnerable.  The service has also 
coordinated the distribution of emergency food parcels, activity packs, period dignity 
products, cooking advice and recipes etc.  

 
 The intention over the next twelve months is to assess recent best practice and 

provision for young people and consider how this can be integrated long term into the 

Youth Service model.  This includes evaluating the strengths and shortcomings of the 

pilot project which aims to increase and improve the quality of targeted support for 

those most in need.  

 

 

Page 23



5.4.10 Catering  

 

 Free School Meals 
 

When schools closed on the 20th March, the catering department faced a huge 
logistical challenge as to how they could meet the needs of over 6243 FSM pupils 
within the borough. This involved the need to design, implement and deliver a whole 
new service from scratch. 

 
 An online application system was established, a series of borough wide delivery routes 

were planned and the team worked in partnership with local suppliers to set up cold 
storage and a packing and distribution centre in the grounds of Ty Penallta.  

 
 In the first week alone, the catering team along with a team of volunteers packed and 

delivered over 12,500 meals.  
 
 The scheme has now been running for over 16 months catering for all school holiday 

periods and also providing FSM to pupils who have needed to isolate due to Covid.  
 
 Over 1.4 million meals have been delivered to our most vulnerable families and during 

this time FSM take-up has also been increased from 68% to 96% of those eligible.  
 

In support of the delivery programme, over 20 local authority service areas have 
worked together to ensure the meals were packed into a fleet of cars and then 
delivered to each and every FSM pupil’s door step.  
 
The scheme has attracted significant mainstream media attention from Heno S4C, 
BBC Wales, Wales on Line, and the Caerphilly Observer as well as receiving high 
praise on social media. 

 
 The Catering team has also been shortlisted for “Team of the Year” in the prestigious 

MJ Local Government Awards. The judges recognised that the work involved in 
creating a bespoke delivery mapping service, and associated ordering processing 
systems, coupled with the logistics of unloading and loading thousands of meals each 
week for home delivery was an incredible achievement for all involved.  

 
 School Catering 
 

The catering staff have worked in partnership with schools to change the way the 
service is delivered in order to meet the specific risk assessment requirements of each 
individual setting.  

 
Examples would include delivering meals to classrooms, setting up multiple serving 
areas to cater for the individual bubbles and working split lunch breaks to ensure the 
schools could continue to educate our pupils in Caerphilly in the safest way possible. 

 
 The catering staff have continued to demonstrate the team Caerphilly ethos right 

throughout the last 16 months by assisting the in-house cleaning team by providing 
staff to perform additional cleaning duties. The catering staff have been flexible 
enabling the cleaning team to continue to deliver to the very high standards our 
schools demand.    
 

 

 

Page 24



5.4.11 Building Cleaning  

 

Throughout the pandemic, building cleaning have continued to provide cleaning 
services across all settings including corporate buildings, educational hubs, schools 
(including non-sla schools), polling stations and vaccination centres.  

 
This has required adapting and working closely with each individual setting in order to 
meet their specific risk assessments and requirements. In many cases this has meant 
providing additional cleaning or emergency response cleaning to ensure minimal 
disruption.  

 

In order to achieve the requirements, circa 150 additional cleaning staff have been 
appointed on a temporary basis as well as staff being redeployed from the catering 
service, leisure and school crossing patrol. 

 
In addition, building cleaning have worked closely with colleagues in Environmental 
Health and Social Services to provide residential cleaning to enable residents to 
remain in their properties or return home from hospital. 

 

5.4.12 Transport (Public/Social Services/Education, SEN and EOTAS)  

  

 Education Transport. 
 

All education transport services ceased to operate following school closures on 20th 
March 2020. To safeguard the bus and taxi industry during this period, and in line with 
the recommendation of WG and WLGA, contracts continued to be paid 75% of the 
normal daily rate. This payment included the caveat to continue to pay the staff 
associated with these contracts e.g. drivers and escorts, and that the staff and vehicles 
would be available when required. Between April and July 2020 transport for 
vulnerable pupils to attend some ALN bases continued. 

 
From the end of June 2020 schools re-opened for a short period of “catch up” sessions 
prior to the summer school holidays. All school transport provision returned for these 
three weeks, albeit under strict WG guidance and with risk assessments in place. 

 
Since September 2020 the school transport provision has continued to operate whilst 
adhering to WG guidance. Regular risk assessment reviews have taken place to 
ensure compliance with the guidance. This has not been without challenges due to the 
number of positive cases in schools and the requirement for isolation at the instruction 
of track and trace colleagues. 

 
The education transport team are currently preparing for the return to school in 
September and will continue to ensure the safe travel for all students. 

 
Social Services Transport 

 
As with education transport contracts, routes operating on behalf of social services to 
day centres etc. ceased to operate in March 2020 due to services not running during 
the pandemic. These contracts also continued to receive 75% of the daily contract rate 
for a period of six months. These contracts were terminated in October 2020 due to the 
unknown return date for service provision and have not been re-tendered to date. 

 

Page 25



The Council’s internal fleet of social services vehicles and drivers have continued to be 
busy during the period of day centre closures by supporting the Council’s FSM delivery 
scheme. Support was also provided to pharmacies in delivering prescriptions.  
 
Mental Health Standby. 

 
The social services provision has adapted to the restricted access to centres and is 
currently offering community services provision to individuals. This involves collecting 
service users from home and taking them on trips around the county borough which 
offers much needed respite for both the individual and their families. 

 
Public Transport 

 
The public transport industry has been severely impacted as a result of the Covid-19 
pandemic and would not be operational today if it was not for the Concessionary Fares 
reimbursement scheme, and the Bus Emergency Scheme (BES) funding, made 
available by WG.  
Public bus service contracts funded by the Council also benefitted by receiving 75% of 
the daily contract rate for the duration that contracts were required to operate. These 
contracts are predominantly evening and weekend services. 

 
Although bus services were encouraged to return following the initial lockdown in 
September 2020, the requirement for social distancing on vehicles severely impacted 
on how routes could be operated. Public confidence was also impacted and as a result 
patronage dropped to approximately 25% of the pre Covid-19 numbers. 

 
Bus services are currently on the increase and there has been a recent change to WG 
legislation allowing for all forward facing seats within service buses to be utilised, 
however patronage remains low with approximately 50% of pre Covid-19 numbers on 
local bus services, but less on longer services where passengers generally use for 
commuting to work.  

 
In addition, the industry is currently experiencing a shortfall of drivers, resulting in 
some companies not being able to increase their service levels. It is believed that 
many drivers found alternative employment during the pandemic e.g. supermarket 
deliveries etc. and have not returned to the industry. This has resulted in some evening 
and weekend journeys not being able to return. 

 
The Council continues to work with WG, TfW, and regional colleagues in reviewing the 
current level of service whilst investigating opportunities for future operations. 

 

5.4.13 Bulky Household waste collections 
 

During the onset of the Covid pandemic and the first national lockdown, bulky 
collections were suspended in line with government guidance. This allowed the service 
to focus on delivering priority front line waste collection services. 

 
When the service was reintroduced in May 2020, in line with government and 
corporate guidance, the risk assessment was amended to include a number of 
measures to protect not only our employees but members of the public.  
 
This included restricting any contact between residents and our staff, enhanced 
cleansing of items prior to our team placing them on delivery vehicles, additional PPE 
and crew members travelling in separate vehicles. Administrative staff also contact 

Page 26



residents the day prior to a collection to ensure that no one in the household is 
symptomatic or tested positive. 

 
Due to Furniture Revival furloughing their staff and suspending the collection of 
reusable furniture and fridges/freezers, the bulky collection service was expanded to 
collect these items leading to an increased demand. 

 
A new online booking service was introduced on 24th May 2021 which allows residents 
to book and pay for a collection 24 hours a day, 7 days a week allowing them to select 
a date up to 4 weeks in advance. 

 
5.4.14 Household waste recycling centres 
 

On 20th March 2020 in response to the Welsh Government COVID-19 instruction, all 
six Household waste recycling centres across the Borough were closed. The sites re-
opened on 26th May 2021 with revised risk assessments including changes to signage, 
layout and other on-site operations. Due to the demand for the service as well as the 
restrictions on site, a traffic management company were initially appointed to control 
queuing traffic. Staff were also deployed from the leisure service to assist with the on-
site procedures. 

 
During the second National Lockdown in Wales, in line with Welsh Government 
instruction, all sites closed from 24th October 2020 and reopened on Monday 9th 
November 2020. 

 
Following the relaxation of restrictions across Wales, the risk assessments have been 
reviewed and amended to allow a gradual increase in throughput. These will be further 
refined following any further Welsh Government announcements. 

 
5.4.15 Public Protection 
 

Throughout the pandemic Public Protection officers have responded to the ever-
changing legislation and restrictions aimed at reducing the spread of Coronavirus. 
Environmental Health staff have been diverted from “normal” Public Protection work to 
the Covid response. They have been helping to keep Caerphilly safe by investigating 
and managing individual cases and clusters of cases of Covid 19.  They have provided 
regular Infection Prevention and Control advice to Care Homes, schools and other 
educational settings, along with all types of businesses and employers including large 
factories.   
 
For long periods the service was operating 7 days a week including out of hours and 
has put in place comprehensive support and advice arrangements for schools to 
minimise the numbers of pupil bubbles required to isolate and hence miss out on 
valuable education.  Advice to business and the public has also been provided 
throughout to protect the health safety and welfare of all involved.  

 
As a consequence of the above commitments, much of the enforcement of coronavirus 
legislation associated with commercial premises and licensed premises has fallen to 
our Trading Standards and Licensing Teams.   
 
The Environmental Health teams have been responsible for dealing with close contact 
services such as hairdressers, barbers, beauticians, gyms, indoor play areas and 
numerous other premises such as offices and other enclosed workplaces.  The service 
has continued to support business with advice in complex circumstances as we have 
had some 36 different versions of the Regulations since the start of the pandemic.  

Page 27



Additionally, a comprehensive, high profile advice and enforcement response has been 
delivered to encourage compliance and to address those who choose not to comply in 
order to keep Caerphilly safe. 

 
Public Protection aims to support the post-Covid recovery at some point by resuming 
the business inspection programme in particular high risk premises, Food, Health & 
Safety at Work, Feed and Animal Health. A small number of inspections of high risk 
premises have taken place, but the coronavirus pandemic continues to have a 
significant draw on available resources. Additionally, the findings from those 
inspections undertaken reveal a drop in standards from the pre-pandemic position 
requiring further resources to bring the businesses back into compliance. 

 
Throughout the pandemic, there has been an escalation in groups of youths causing 
anti-social behaviour and not adhering to the Covid regulations.  As a result, the 
Community Safety Wardens have been undertaking joint operations with Gwent Police 
to address these issues working closely with Gwent Police and other Community 
Safety Partners to enforce 16 Dispersal Orders which have been issued to address the 
most problematic areas across the county borough.  In 202/21 0ver 220 people were 
referred into the Safer Caerphilly Anti-Social Behaviour 4 Strike Process for committing 
acts of anti-social behaviour (some linked to Covid breaches) which has resulted in 
227 warning letters, 6 Acceptable Behaviour Contracts being signed and one individual 
receiving a Civil Injunction at court. Csws also carried out joint patrols with Gwent 
Police of country parks and other beauty spots monitoring and policing the stay at 
home requirements. 

 
Our Registration Service has always had very high customer satisfaction ratings. 
Offering a professional but personal service providing facilities for birth, death, 
marriage and civil partnership registration.  The coronavirus pandemic meant that 
couples with marriage and civil partnerships booked had their plans and dreams 
shattered.  The team had to contact couples looking to re-arrange their big days 
without actually knowing when they may actually be able to go ahead.  For months 
Registrars were unable to register births or take notices of marriage and civil 
partnership. Saddest of all was the registration of deaths and stillbirths by telephone.  
Registrars have been working to manage the demand for ceremonies now that these 
can take place. Unfortunately the Registration Service recovery has been hampered by 
a major malfunction of national registration database. 

 
5.4.16 Reintroduction of Car Parking Charges 
 
 Throughout the pandemic car parking charges have been suspended at all town centre 

car parks to assist town centre businesses to recover from the economic damage caused 
by lockdowns and other restrictions on retail and hospitality businesses.  

 
 The suspension of car parking charges has been the subject of a number of Cabinet 

reports and decisions throughout 2020 and 2021 with the result that car parking charges 
remain suspended until 30th September 2021. Cabinet will be reviewing the matter again 
in September 2021 and will then make a further decision on the matter. 

 
5.5 PROGRESS AGAINST STRATEGIC PRINCIPLE 2 – FUTURE WAVE PREPARATION  
  

 This principle was focused on preparing the Council and our communities for further 
 waves of the virus and reducing the impact on people and place as much as 
 possible.  
  

Page 28



  The projects and programmes that were included within the Future Wave Preparation 
Principle and the progress made against them are set out below: 

  

5.5.1 Reflections on COVID Response  

 
 During July 2020, and under the stewardship of the Council’s Recovery Group, a 

series of engagement exercises were undertaken that were designed to reflect on the 
Council’s response to the first lockdown and identify any lessons learned that could 
assist service planning ahead of future waves.  

 
 The engagement took the form of a detailed survey of Leadership Team with similar 

questions posed to members of the Management Network. In addition, informal digital 
focus groups were held with a total of 51 participants from across all directorates 

 
 In terms of positives, the survey returned the following views: -  
 

 Business continuity plans were fit for purpose; however, the scale of the 
emergency did bring challenges to the plan that no one could have predicted. 

 Staff were able to respond to the challenges they faced and did so. 

 The Organisation felt joined up and responded well with the Team Caerphilly 
ethos fully embraced.  

 Clear communication from the senior leaders within the Organisation. 

 In many cases it was business as usual with little to no disruptions to service 
provision. 

 
 Reflecting on what could have been done differently or better, the key themes 
 emerged as:  
 

 Initially limited support and equipment for agile working – staff having to use 
their own equipment.  

 Lack of redeployment opportunities initially 

 Management communication on working arrangements and approach to 
working arrangements were inconsistent. 

 Initial lack of PPE and equipment 
  
 The survey also identified the following worries or concerns that staff were feeling at 
 the time: - 
 

 A feeling of isolation due to home working 

 Concerns of backlog of work in substantive role for those who have been re-
deployed 

 

Corporate Management Team received a report from the Chair of the Recovery Group 

on Wave 1 Reflections and Planning for Wave 2 at its meeting of the 16th October 

2020. The report included a detailed analysis of the survey on Wave 1 response and 

an outline action plan for ensuring the response to future waves was enhanced.  

 

5.5.2 Wave 2 Service Planning   

 

 As part of the report to CMT on the 16th October, a draft action plan was presented that 
would enable service delivery to be assessed against a range of factors such as the 
potential for the autumn and winter months to place different burdens on the Council’s 
workforce and that of our Partners such as the NHS. 

Page 29



 
 The plan provided Heads of Service with a framework against which they could assess 

any service delivery challenges and raise them at an early stage in order for potential 
issues to be avoided. 

 
 The plan was also designed to ensure the Council could prioritise and focus its 

resources on critical services which may be different in Autumn or Winter compared to 
those experienced during the first wave which took place over the Spring and Summer. 

 . 
 The plan also enabled collaboration with and support from external agencies and the 

third sector to be factored in to service delivery planning at an early stage. 
 

5.5.3 Supporting Strategic Coordinating Group (LRF)  

 

The Council, along with partner agencies such as those set out below forms part of the 

Local Resilience Forum.  

 

 Gwent Police 

 South Wales Fire and Rescue 

 Neighbouring Local Authorities 

 Natural Resources Wales 

 

The LRF has been operating as a Strategic Coordinating Group or SCG throughout the 

pandemic response and has successfully raised and resolved a number of challenges 

in a coordinated and unified manner throughout that time. 

 

 The Chief Executive and Corporate Management Team have regularly participated in 

the SCG meetings while the Council’s Head of Public Protection, Community & Leisure 

Services has been ever present. The Head of Public Protection, Community & Leisure 

Services has also chaired the Gwent Incident Management Team meetings which has 

helped to co-ordinate the regional response. The Environmental Health Manager has 

chaired the Caerphilly IMT supporting the response on the ground to the situation in 

Caerphilly. 

 

5.5.4 Supporting Gwent Test, Trace and Protect Service  

  

The Caerphilly Contact Tracing Team operates as part of the Gwent Contact Tracing 
Service. This is a project initiated in May 2020 in response to Welsh Government’s 
Test, Trace, Protect Strategy and went live in June 2020 thanks to redeployed staff 
working completely agilely using an interim IT system.  
 
With the introduction of an all Wales IT system and a Welsh Government funded 
recruitment process the service has developed significantly since those early days.   
 
The service involves contacting and providing advice to people who have tested 
positive, finding out who their close contacts have been, and reaching those close 
contacts to advise them on what they need to do. Contact tracers try to build trust to 
find out who people have been in contact with, especially where individuals may be 
reluctant to admit they have broken the rules. 

 
The contact tracing service operates 7 days a week and is supported by our 
Environmental Health Officers and across the region by staff from Aneurin Bevan 

Page 30



University Health Board. At its peak the Caerphilly Contact Tracing Team consisted 
148 full time equivalent staff; a head count of 172 employees.  
 
The Caerphilly team are also involved in managing arriving travellers that become 
positive cases.  
 
The service has been working extremely closely with our schools to assist in the 
management of school bubbles.  
 
In March 2021 Welsh Government’s Technical Advisory Group (TAG) published a 
paper modelling the Welsh TTP (Test, Trace, Protect) system. TAG estimated that 
during winter high transmission and prevalence (outside of firebreak), TTP reduced R 
(the growth rate of coronavirus) from approximately 1.7 to 1.3. The Contact Tracing 
service is funded through to the end of March 2022. 
 
In August 2021, the Council was made aware that the Caerphilly Contact Tracing team 
has been selected as one of the top finalists in the APSE Service Awards Best service 
team of the year category - Environmental Health, Trading Standards and Regulatory 
service. 

 

5.6 PROGRESS AGAINST STRATEGIC PRINCIPLE 3 – SUPPORTING BUSINESSES  

  

  This principle was focused on providing support to assist business stability and growth 
across Caerphilly. 

  

  The projects and programmes that were included within the Supporting Businesses 
Principle and the progress made against them are set out below:   

  

5.6.1 Economic Recovery Framework   

 

 The Strategic Vision for the Regeneration of the County Borough has been clouded 
throughout 2020 by 2 significant events Covid-19 and Brexit and the significant 
economic impact of both continues to persist.  In addition to the well-documented impact 
of the pandemic on public health, its effect combined with the impact of BREXIT on the 
economy is profound.  

  
 The Council, in partnership with the Welsh Government, has been at the forefront of 

responding to the immediate and short-term needs of local businesses as both events 
have unfolded with circa £61m of grant support being awarded to local businesses since 
the start of the pandemic.   There is now a pressing need to support and strengthen the 
local economy and in order to do this a renewed strategic approach is required to 
address this unprecedented period of economic turbulence and lay the ground to enable 
the county borough to build back better.   

   
 The economic recovery framework, ‘Delivering Prosperity’, was agreed by Cabinet in 

September 2020 as a means of delivering our strategic objective of Supporting 
Business. The framework has three, distinct phases: The Restart phase; The Revive 
phase; and the Renew phase.   

 
 The recovery framework outlined what actions the Council will take to support our 

economic recovery as we emerge from the crisis. An update report will be brought before 
Cabinet over the coming months. 

 

 

Page 31



5.6.2 WG Economic Resilience Fund  

  

 During the 2020/21 financial year Caerphilly CBC, along with all Council’s in Wales, 
administered a range of Covid-19 Business Grant schemes on behalf of WG on an 
agency basis. 

 
 This was a significant challenge that required systems and processes to be put in 

place at pace to ensure that funding was channelled to local businesses and other 
eligible organisations as expediently as possible to help mitigate the financial impact of 
the pandemic. 

 
 The Council’s Business Rates Team made a total of over 9,000 Non-Domestic Rates 

(NDR) grant payments during the financial year with a total value of over £55m. This 
provided much needed financial support to over 3,000 businesses and other eligible 
organisations. 

 
 In addition, a number of other grant schemes were administered by the Council’s 

Business Enterprise & Renewal Team with payments totalling over £5m as detailed in 
the table below: - 

 

Grant Businesses 
Supported 

Total 
Paid  
(£) 

Covid-19 Start Up Grant 119 197,500 

Covid-19 Childcare Provider Grant 16 55,669 

Covid-19 Freelancer Fund 254 635,000 

Firebreak Discretionary Fund 532 1,036,500 

Restrictions Business Fund (RBF) Discretionary Grant 1,244 2,378,000 

Covid-19 Town Centre Grant 16 93,121 

Covid-19 Valleys Task Force Grant 35 242,429 

Caerphilly Enterprise Fund 69 359,316 

Coronavirus Safety Grant 82 14,760 

Total  2,367 5,012,295 

 
 The one-off funding provided by WG has provided a lifeline to many businesses during 

this unprecedented period. The Council’s Economic Recovery Framework will now be 
a key element in helping local businesses to understand the evolving implications of 
Covid-19, the economic impact of Brexit, and how to respond moving forward. 

 

5.7 PROGRESS AGAINST STRATEGIC PRINCIPLE 4 – CAERPHILLY CARES  
  

  This principle was focused on wrapping support around individuals and communities, 
to enable them to help themselves prosper and grow.  

  

  The projects and programmes that will support the Caerphilly Cares Principle are as 
follows:  

  

5.7.1 Caerphilly Cares  
  
 Caerphilly Cares was officially launched in April 2021 and referral pathways have now 

been established with several internal departments. The key aims of Caerphilly Cares 
are as follows: 

 

Page 32



 Aim 1:  To establish a universal gateway model for vulnerable individuals,  
  providing advice, support, and signposting to enable them to become 
  more resilient and live as independently as possible through a  
  strength based, community centred model. 

 
 Aim 2:  To support our communities to be resilient, cohesive, and sustainable, 
   and enable them to help themselves. To create the conditions for  
   community assets to thrive and create a balance between service and 
   community support by removing any barriers and for our services to 
   work alongside communities in ways that are empowering, engaging, 
   and meaningful. 
  
 As part of the launch a series of Member seminars were held and an information 

package with referral contact numbers was provided. Members have 
started signposting and directly referring to Caerphilly Cares and the numbers and 
issues are being monitored as part of the monitoring process.  

 
 A community services directory has been created containing details of universal 

services, as well as more localised community provision. Public and staff pages have 
been developed and these are now live on Dewis providing a Caerphilly Cares 
professional view as well as a Caerphilly Cares public view. 

 
 A ‘What Matters’ briefing session has been developed for staff, to support their 

conversations with vulnerable people ensuring that the discussions are person centred 
with ‘how can you help yourself’ being the starting point.  Alongside this one of the 
members of the team has completed the Connect 5 train the trainer course, which is a 
Health Board brief intervention course for mental wellbeing.  Both are initially being 
delivered to paid staff and then included in the programme of training available to 
volunteers.  This will mean the reach of the training will be much wider, not 
only benefitting the volunteers and their personal development but also the people they 
are supporting in the community.  

 
 Collaborative working is also being developed with Health through the Integrated Well 

Being network and Neighbourhood Care network, which includes health and social 
care services including GPs. Caerphilly Cares will form part of the workplan for the 
Integrated Partnership Board.  

 
 A forum for volunteer led organisations across the borough to network and encourage 

peer to peer support has been established. The meeting established common goals, 
issues and identified areas for joint working/delivery such as training for volunteers and 
leaders of the community organisations to support their volunteers. 

 
 A subgroup of the Voluntary Sector Liaison Committee is being established to enable 

voluntary/ community groups, Cllrs, and Community Councils to directly input into the 
delivery of Caerphilly Cares.  

  
 Support from Caerphilly Cares has now been included in the self-isolation grant 

application to provide wider social support. Referrals are also being received from 
Council Tax and Housing Benefit for people experiencing financial difficulties. Income 
gained for period April – June period saw £625k of additional income gained for 
residents.   

 
 
 
 

Page 33



 Caseload Update 
 

 In conjunction with support for the wider community, groups, organisations etc. the 
Caerphilly Cares team also carry a caseload of support for vulnerable individuals.   

 
 Initial referrals were largely for foodbank parcels, volunteer buddies or just general 

advice/assistance with issues related to Covid19 such as isolation payments or 
vaccinations.  

 
 However, since the launch of CC in April, the team has seen an increase in the 

numbers of complex cases being referred to the team.  Such cases require 
interventions from multiple teams & services to meet the needs of individual but by 
acting in a coordinating role, the CC team has provided the vulnerable people with a 
‘constant’ throughout their journey of support.   

 
 The increase in caseload has also led to the identification of areas for the potential 

development of services, most recently in relation to garden maintenance and cleaning 
(in properties).   

 
Food Poverty 

 
Through the Food Poverty Grant and support from the RDP team a strategy to 
increase awareness and availability of local and affordable healthy food will be 
established by working across sectors to develop and deliver a joint vision for a better 
food system. A new post has been appointed funded by the grant and will be 
responsible for: 

 

 Mapping current food policies and strategies, assets, and initiatives across 

Caerphilly.  

 Establishing and developing of a dynamic, high impact food partnership.  

 Coordinating a multi-strand consultation on key food issues, opportunities, and 

priorities.  

 
A further grant application of £112,000 to support this agenda has also been submitted 
to Welsh Government. (Food Insecurity Grant) 

 
 The following funding has been secured to deliver the Caerphilly Cares service: 
 

 WG COVID Recovery Grant -  £200,000 

 WG Food Poverty Grant -  £127,000 

 

5.7.2 Buddy Scheme 
 
 This scheme was set up in response to the COVID-19 pandemic to support the most 

vulnerable people in the community with practical support (shopping, prescription 
collection, befriending phone calls etc) but has evolved following the easing of 
restrictions into a wider community support scheme. The scheme is run in partnership 
with GAVO who employ the Volunteer Co-ordinator and lead on volunteer 
management.  

 
 The new postholder has been appointed to the Volunteer Co-ordinator role and started 

in post on 19th July, following the departure of the previous postholder in May.  This 
change in staff has afforded a natural pause to review the existing processes and roles 
of the volunteers.   

Page 34



 
 Whilst demand during the first year of the pandemic meant volunteers were focussed 

largely on practical support, the Caerphilly Cares team is now seeing a shift in support 
towards more social based issues such as mental wellbeing and isolation.  

 
 Alongside GAVO, the Caerphilly Cares team will be reviewing the role, training 

requirements and recruitment of new volunteers in line with the changes in restrictions 
related to the pandemic and the issues that vulnerable people are presenting with.  
Recruitment of new volunteers will be a particular priority as current Buddies are at 
capacity, with several volunteers supporting more than one vulnerable person.   

 
5.7.3 Employee Volunteering Policy 
 
 The Caerphilly Cares team oversee the delivery of the policy, which was developed in 

partnership with the Corporate Policy team alongside a review group made up of 
representatives from across the authority.   

 
 Under the policy and following discussion with their line managers, employees can 

take part in full or half day opportunities (environmental clean ups, events etc.) or 
opportunities requiring a longer-term commitment (Buddies, night shelter schemes, 
committees). Ahead of ‘going live’, colleagues in HR have been setting up the leave of 
absence systems on iTrent, which will be tested by the existing council ‘Buddies’.   

 
 All eligible opportunities will be hosted on the Volunteering Wales website to ensure 

they have all the appropriate volunteer management systems in place and employees 
will be required to create a profile to log their hours. The Caerphilly Cares team will link 
with community groups to identify day/half day opportunities, for example Cefn Fforest 
Eco Park, who have a largely elderly committee unable to carry out physical work to 
maintain the site.  The team will also support groups looking for longer term volunteers 
such as the Scouts group in Risca that has a waiting list of young people unable join 
due to a lack of volunteer leaders.  It is also hoped that the launch of the policy will 
help to recruit new volunteer Buddies, as currently the scheme is at capacity. 

 
 The team is also working with colleagues in the Transformation and Policy teams to 

submit a grant application to the Volunteering Wales Strategic Grant to help to 
implement the scheme. 

  

5.8 PROGRESS AGAINST STRATEGIC PRINCIPLE 5 – SERVICE TRANSFORMATION  
 
 This principle was focused on how we could reframe Council services based on COVID 

learning and embed the changes through the Council’s ambitious transformation 
programme TeamCaerphilly 

 
  The projects and programmes that support the Service Transformation Principle, along 

with the progress made in the last twelve months are set out below:  
 
5.8.1 Walk-In Services Corporate Review  
 
 This review focuses on the Council’s ‘walk in’ provision; that is – buildings that 

residents can physically visit in order to access council services.  
 
 To date, extensive mapping activity has been carried out in order to assess levels of 

service currently offered across these assets and opportunities to ensure we are 
making the most effective use of our ‘walk in assets’ in meeting customer need across 
public service.  

Page 35



 
 Longer term, this will offer an option of providing multiple services from locations. 

Should this be explored, extensive internal and external engagement with both staff 
and customers will form a crucial element of the review. 

 
5.8.2 Remote Contact Corporate Review  
 
 This review focuses on the provision of service outside of the ‘walk in’ provision 

referenced above where customers can interact with the council using telephone 
based or online channels.  

 
 There has been fairly significant progress made to date. A new telephony system has 

been rolled out across customer services enabling faster resolution of customer 
enquiries and providing real-time data on call volume and agent availability.  

 
 The project review team are currently mapping existing contact options, including self-

service, automation and face to face processes, aiming to shape services to become 
even more citizen centric.  

 
 The council has also received support from the Centre for Digital Public Services 

Wales to carry out a ‘discovery phase’ to inform the development of a new public 
website. A new staff intranet is also being progressed which will provide an opportunity 
to create a more engaging presence accessible to all staff over the coming months.  

 
 A new Complaints and Concerns policy has also been adopted, in line with the latest 

guidance from the Public Services Ombudsman. A project designed to automate the 
Council’s complaints processes is nearing conclusion which will create capacity for 
staff to develop better ways of listening to and learning from customers in order to 
further drive service improvement and the quality of the Council’s engagement.  

 
5.8.3 Information, Insight and Intelligence Corporate Review  
 
 This review focuses on enhancing the use of intelligence and evidence derived from 

the extensive data collected across the council. The review should enable 
improvements in the consistency and efficiency of collection, the creation of tools and 
dashboards to join together previously disparate data sets to offer unique insights as 
well as creating additional analytical capability. 

 
 To date, an initial audit of data sources across the council has been completed and 

analysis of this audit is underway. Work has also begun on mapping data analysis 
capacity across the council, with a view to considering recommendations for a future 
model of data management.  

 
 A Digital Solutions Board has been created and meets regularly to advise on 

consolidation, renewal and replacement of software solutions as contracts expire. A 
forward work programme for this board is developed on the basis of schedules on 
current contracts.  

 
 Software package Power BI has been used to pilot a comprehensive Covid-19 

reporting dashboard with the review looking to convert a number of current reporting 
systems to a single Power BI format based on this experience. 

 
 Work has also commenced on a joined-up approach to tackling digital exclusion, with 

initial round table discussions scheduled involving a number of council teams whose 
work covers digital inclusion/exclusion.  

Page 36



 
5.8.4 Support Services Corporate Review   
 
 This review builds upon learning and insight gathered from colleagues both prior to 

and during the Covid-19 pandemic and focuses on ensuring support services and 
processes are as effective and as efficient as possible.  

 
 A baseline data gathering exercise has been concluded across all support services 

within the remit of the review as well as an analysis of any current or pending 
programmes of work that will support increased efficiency/effectiveness. Business 
partner arrangement data has also been collated as part of this process.  

 
 Further focus group sessions are scheduled with further cross-sections of support 

service and non-support service staff to seek views on support services as ‘enablers’ 
to effective service provision.  

 
 Following two successful pilots of Codebase 8 intelligent automation software (with 

free school meal applications and Supporting People referrals), there is an additional 
opportunity to explore further use of this intelligent software to assist support services 
with technological change, automating previously time consuming processes and 
creating further staff capacity for other tasks.  

 
 A work stream is also considering the council’s customer service standards and is 

reviewing recent insight from both staff and residents to ensure customer service 
standards are fully fit for purpose.  

 
5.8.5 Frontline Services Corporate Review 
 

This review seeks to ensure the council has a frontline service that is fully fit for the 
future and meets customer and organisational needs into the longer term.  

 
 The review group is considering how best to maintain and improve in-house frontline 

services alongside the provision of opportunities to develop a number of commercial 
partnerships.  

 
 Project leads are currently working alongside colleagues in Digital Services on aligning 

the roll out of the Abavus software platform with streamlining service request 
processes for the benefit of both the customer and the organisation.  

 
 Data collection exercises have also been completed reviewing how capacity could be 

further strengthened across the frontline, particularly during periods of inclement 
weather, flooding or where a frontline service area is facing particular service 
pressures.  

 
 Similarly, an extensive piece of work which will support further relationship building 

across the frontline is nearing completion.  
 
 Colleagues in the council’s Housing Repairs Team have been instrumental in 

supporting this review with demonstrations of how their service area operates a 
paperless service and how a similar system could benefit the full frontline service area 
in the future.  

 
 Finally, an extensive engagement campaign is in late planning stages which will 

explore feedback gained from members of the public via the recent resident survey on 
‘quality of life’ issues that affect their daily lives. This engagement campaign will 

Page 37



explore how the council and community can work closer together in future to mitigate 
against the issues identified.  

 
5.8.6 Agile Working Corporate Review  
 
 Almost overnight, the Council moved to an agile working model of delivery with a 

significant proportion of its workforce operating from home. Building capacity has been 
significantly reduced during that time while access to CCBC laptops and IT equipment 
has significantly increased.  

 
 While the initial shift was swift the Council recognised the need to develop a longer 

term, more formalised approach to agile working. In defining this, a categorisation 
exercise has been carried out across the workforce along with a high level analysis of 
relevant data. Two staff surveys have been undertaken, a year apart, that sought to 
establish staff views on agile working and to assist with refining practice.  

 
 A further data collection exercise on digital resource/infrastructure among staff 

currently working remotely is also nearing completion. Moving forward a review of a 
number of key HR policies and procedures will be necessary as the Council seeks to 
embed agile working as a core component of future service delivery  

 
5.8.7 Workforce Development Corporate Review  
 
 This review focuses on the insight gained both before and during the Covid-19 

pandemic and will work to ensure the council has a fully fit for purpose workforce 
development strategy in place to meet its organisational needs into the longer term.  

 
 A draft workforce development strategy and draft wellbeing strategy have been 

developed and shaped by consultation and feedback from colleagues at all levels of 
the organisation. Similarly, a workforce planning framework and management toolkit 
are nearing completion before being considered by the Team Caerphilly Programme 
Board, Scrutiny and Cabinet in the Autumn.  

 
 An options appraisal for a centralised learning and development resource is underway 

and a directory of training opportunities has been drafted with engagement in place 
with private training providers, trade unions and the academic sector on current and 
future training opportunities.  

 
 The green light has been given for a new Intranet and a developer is currently being 

sought.  
 
 In addition, a full end-to-end review of the council’s recruitment process is well 

underway, with a process mapping exercise complete, iTrent modules for ‘onboarding’ 
and ‘mobile self-service’ demonstrations received and an engagement plan for future 
roll out in place.  

 
 Finally, a review into the opportunities to incorporate a paperless service is underway, 

with a mapping exercise completed with a view to longer term streamlining and 
digitisation of some processes to make them suitable for an agile working environment.  

 
5.8.8 Volunteering and Community Partnerships Corporate Review  
 
 This review is seeking to build upon the council’s strengthening relationships with 

communities across the county borough, particularly in light of the sterling efforts from 
local communities to play their part during the Covid-19 pandemic.  

Page 38



 
 An extensive mapping exercise has been undertaken on community groups from 

across Caerphilly to identify their resources and the support they provide to local 
communities. The Dewis online information platform has also been utilised to ensure 
this information is widely accessible for those who require it.  

 
 The Caerphilly Cares service formally launched in April and to date has supported over 

200 individuals with a range of identified issues including isolation and loneliness, debt 
management, income maximisation and training. The team work closely alongside 
GAVO and have a jointly funded post whose focus is on building relationships with 
local volunteers to support this important area. Feedback from those using the service 
continues to be extremely positive.  

 
 The council has recently approved the roll out of a Community Empowerment Fund 

which will enable communities to bid for funding on a ward level to carry out 
community projects to meet identified areas of need. This, together with the 
procurement of an online digital engagement platform and the development of an 
engagement strategy will further support the council and the community in 
strengthening that relationship even further.  

 
 An employee volunteering scheme has also recently been supported by Cabinet and is 

in the final stages of development prior to roll-out. This important scheme will bring 
additional community capacity to Caerphilly county borough communities while also 
supporting staff members to volunteer. Finally, an additional work stream is in its data 
collection phase to explore voluntary organisation financial support and grant funding.  

 
5.8.9 Sustainable Financial Planning Corporate Review  
 
 This review builds on extensive work carried out over a number of years on longer 

term financial planning. Among the outcomes from this review will be a review of the 
council’s investment strategy, a review on the councils’ financial regulations and 
identification of any required training and development around this important area.  

 
 The review is also exploring, following feedback from colleagues, opportunities to 

centralise, simplify and automate in some cases internal invoicing procedures, again 
with the opportunity to make use of intelligent automation software.  

 
 All work streams under this review are making solid progress, with each review area in 

its data collection and process mapping phase.  
 
5.8.10 Decision Making Corporate Review 
 
 This review seeks to further engage with staff and elected members on the decision-

making process to ensure the process is efficient, effective, user friendly and widely 
understood. This review will also utilise sharing and reviewing good practice with other 
local authorities and incorporate any learning into the future.  

 
 To date, the decision making processes of three other local authorities have been 

explored, with the responses and recommendations for any learning currently in draft. 
Further support has also been offered from the Welsh Local Government Association 
in identifying further review focus areas under the decision-making process review as 
appropriate.  

 

 

 

Page 39



5.9  Strategic Recovery Framework Proposed Measures of Success 
 
 In order to assess the impact of our Strategic Recovery Framework moving forwards, it 

is important that Cabinet agree a set of appropriate measures. 
 
 With our Recovery Aims focusing on our reassuring our communities, steadying our 

economy and reshaping the organisation to meet need, the following four measures of 
success are proposed for consideration: 

   

SRF Measure 1 Resident percentage satisfaction with Council Services (via 

resident survey) 

SRF Measure 2 Percentage of services contained within Strategic Principle 1 

that are available and accessible to residents 

SRF Measure 3 Percentage of available WG Economic Recovery Grant paid to 

eligible businesses in Caerphilly  

SRF Measure 4 Amount of additional income generated for residents through 

Caerphilly Cares 

 

5.10 Conclusion   

The report details the significant progress that has been made across the organisation 
in delivering the Strategic Recovery Framework. It is also worth noting that much of the 
progress outlined has been delivered alongside “the day job” and the pandemic 
response and really does highlight the organisations capability to deliver in 
exceptionally challenging circumstances.  
 

6. ASSUMPTIONS 

6.1 None. 

 
7. SUMMARY OF INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
7.1 No IIA has been produced as this report is for the purpose of updating Cabinet on 

progress and therefore is for information only. 
 
 
8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 The economic impact of COVID has been significant upon our communities. Welsh 

Government have again committed to providing COVID support funding to Councils to 
cushion the impact of the pandemic over the current financial year.   

  

8.2  The costs of supporting service delivery and the ongoing recovery will continue to be 
kept under close monitoring and review and will be incorporated into our budget setting 
process for 2022/23.   

  

8.3  This Framework has provided a lens through which the recovery effort of the Council 
and some of its partners has been focused in order to mitigate the impact on the 
Community as much as possible.  

  

Page 40



 
9. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 Significant staff and financial resources are required to continue with the Council 

response to the pandemic.  Both factors continue to be reviewed and prioritised 
accordingly with resource and operational plans. 

 
10. CONSULTATIONS 
 
10.1 The draft report was distributed to the consultees as detailed below. All comments 

received have been reflected in this version of the report. 
 
 
11. STATUTORY POWER  
 
11.1 Local Government Acts 1972 and 2000 and Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011. 
 
 
 
Author:  Christina Harrhy, Chief Executive  
  

Consultees:    Cllr Philippa Marsden, Leader   
   Cllr Colin Mann, Leader -Plaid Cymru 
   Cllr Kevin Etheridge, Leader - Independent 
   Cllr Gez Kirby, Chair P & R Scrutiny Committee 
   Cllr Brenda Miles, Vice Chair, P & R Scrutiny Committee  
    Richard Edmunds (Ed), Corporate Director for Education & Corp Services  
    Dave Street, Corporate Director Social Services & Housing  
   Mark S Williams, Corporate Director Economy & Environment  
    Robert Tranter, Head of Legal Services & Monitoring Officer 
    Stephen Harris, Head of Financial Services & S151 Officer 
    Lynne Donovan, Head of People Services  
    Leadership Team 
 
 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 Strategic Recovery Framework 
 
 

Page 41



Gadewir y dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol

Page 42



 

P
age 43



 

P
age 44



 
 
 

CABINET – 1ST SEPTEMBER 2021 
 

  
SUBJECT: MANAGING BUILDING AND SERVICE RISK AT ALERT LEVEL 

ZERO 
 
REPORT BY: CORPORATE DIRECTOR EDUCATION AND CORPORATE 

SERVICES  
 

 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT  
 
1.1 The move to Alert Level zero in Wales in early August along with the new universal 

guidance released by Welsh Government has provided an opportunity to assess 
whether any Council buildings that are currently closed to the public can be reopened 
with any risks suitably minimised. 

 
1.2 The report seeks Cabinet’s endorsement for an evidence-based risk model to be 

adopted as a basis for undertaking these building assessments in a consistent and 
methodical manner, while also enabling the different risk factors, and therefore 
overall risk, at individual settings to be considered. 
  

 
2. SUMMARY 
 
2.1 On the 7th August 2021, Welsh Government moved Wales to Alert Level Zero and 

introduced a set of Universal Guidance for businesses, employers, activity and 
event’s organisers as a result.  

 
2.2 While Wales is now at Alert level zero, coronavirus has not gone away and it remains 

a serious health risk. We have a collective responsibility to help minimise risks to 
protect ourselves, our employees and customers 

 
2.3 The Universal Guidance has been designed to provide the ‘responsible person’ at 

businesses, workplaces, public places and events with a framework of controls 
through which a set of reasonable measures can be defined that minimise risks to 
people on premises being exposed to, or spreading, coronavirus.  

 
2.4 In determining those reasonable measures the guidance provides a hierarchy of 

control model. The model is a widely accepted system promoted by numerous safety 
organisations as a way of “determining how to implement feasible and effective 
control solutions, leading to inherently safer systems where the risk of illness or injury 
has been substantially reduced”. 

 

Page 45

Eitem Ar Yr Agenda 7



2.5 The Council has continued to deliver many ‘critical services’ from locations such as 
residential care homes throughout the pandemic. Some non-critical services such as 
Libraries and Leisure have been made available to the public via conditional building 
access supported by Risk Assessments. Other premises, however, have been closed 
to the public since the beginning of the pandemic as part of the Councils stated aim 
to protect our people and place.  

 
2.6 Where buildings have been completely closed to residents, services have been 

successfully provided through a range of alternative methods such as by telephone, 
online, click and collect, the use of post office cards or through staff operating an 
outreach service within the community. These alternative methods have enabled 
services to remain accessible to the public either in full or in part while appropriately 
balancing the risks associated with the pandemic. 

 
2.7 The move to alert level zero and the revised guidance from Welsh Government 

includes a number of relaxations and, as such, provides an opportunity to reassess 
whether the previous risks associated with delivering services from those buildings 
closed to the public can now sufficiently mitigated, or whether the closures should 
remain in place. 

 
2.8   This report sets out a potential framework against which all such risks can be 

assessed and proposes a process for managing and monitoring the potential 
reopening of certain Council premises that are currently closed to the public.  

 
 
3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 That Cabinet agree to: 
 

1) Endorse the Hierarchy of Controls Template set out in Appendix 1 as the 
mechanism by which the reintroduction of in person services can be assessed  
 

2) That the planning for the reopening of Reception and Customer Services at Ty 
Penallta can now begin in accordance with the controls set out in Appendix 2 under 
the elimination and substitution controls 

 
3) Task relevant Heads of Service, in consultation with the appropriate Cabinet 

Member, with assessing all remaining Council buildings currently closed to the 
public using the template at Appendix 1 

 
4) Receive a supplementary report at its meeting of the 29th September 2021 that sets 

out which of those council buildings should now be reopened and under what 
conditions and controls  

 
5) To receive reports that outline any further changes that need to be made should 

the guidance or risk level change again. 
 
 
4. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 The change to Alert level zero in August has provided an opportunity for the Council 

to assess whether the risks associated with delivering non-critical services from council 
buildings that are currently closed can now be sufficiently mitigated. With a legal 
responsibility to ensure that reasonable measures are introduced that minimise risks 
to people on premises being exposed to or spreading coronavirus it is important that a 

Page 46



consistent framework is agreed and utilised. It is equally important that these risks and 
reasonable measures remain under review as future changes to the guidance or local 
situation emerge. 

 
 
5. THE REPORT 
 
5.1 Wales moved to Alert level zero early in August, but coronavirus has not gone away 

and remains a serious health risk. As a result, Welsh Government has also 
introduced Universal Guidance for businesses, workplaces, public places and events.  

 
5.2 The Council has a legal responsibility to protect workers, visitors, clients and face to 

face customers who attend our premises from risks to their health and safety and 
must do everything reasonably practicable to minimise those risks. 

 
5.3 The risks attached to COVID-19 are significantly reduced when premises and 

buildings are closed. Moving from a closed setting to one that is accessible by 
workers, visitors, clients and face to face customers naturally increases that risk. 

 
5.4 Each setting will also differ in terms of available space, required staffing levels, 

ventilation and the ability to support separate access and egress. As a result the risks 
of reopening buildings that are currently closed will differ depending on a range of 
local factors.  

 
5.5 As a result, each setting will need to be individually risk assessed, with only buildings 

that can support effective controls and the implementation of reasonable measures to 
minimise risks, ultimately being reopened at this point.  

 
5.6 The hierarchy of controls presented within the Welsh Government Guidance is widely 

accepted as an effective way of determining how to implement feasible and effective 
control solutions that lead to inherently safer systems where the risk of illness or 
injury has been substantially reduced. These are explored over coming paragraphs. 

 
5.7 Hierarchy of Controls: 
 
 The model includes five levels of control which range from Elimination as the most 

effective method of managing the risk to PPE as the least effective. 
 
 Elimination   -  Physically remove the hazard 
 
 Substitution   -  Replace the hazard 
 
 Engineering Controls  -  Isolate people from the hazard 
 
 Administrative Controls  -  Change the way people work 
 
 Personal Protective Equipment  -  Protect the worker with PPE   
 
 Within each control a range of scientifically evidenced measures are proposed that 

could be applied to each setting and situation in order to minimise risk 
 

Page 47



 
 
 
5.7.1 Elimination: aim to avoid or remove the risk. (most effective intervention) to stop 

people becoming exposed and infected. There are different ways that this can be 
done but they should include: 
 

 Stopping an infectious person being in an environment by, for example, prohibit 
people from attending if they feel unwell, and advising they should get tested and 
ensuring that all employees follow self-isolation advice if they are a contact of a 
possible confirmed case. 

 Ensuring that accurate records are kept of which employees (and, where 
applicable, customers/visitors/clients) have been present so that they can be 
contact traced if necessary.  

 Closing high risk environments in your work setting as much as possible, such as 
areas where social distancing cannot be maintained.  

 Staff takes both vaccine doses as soon as recommended.  
 

5.7.2 Substitution – aim change the risky activity for a less risky one. There are 
different ways that this can be done but they could include: 

 

 Reducing the time that people come into face-to-face contact. 

 Changing work patterns so that people work in a fixed group or cohort or arrive 
at and leave work at staggered times. This limits the number of people that the 
virus can potentially spread to.  

 Moving to working outdoors to reduce how much the virus can spread through 
surface contamination and aerosol transmission.  

 Using other technologies to replace face-to-face interactions, for example using 
‘click and collect’ technologies, remote working, phone/video consultations. 

 Installation of partitions at appropriate places (e.g. reception desks or between 
work stations) to separate staff etc. If used ensure they are cleaned and 
disinfected in line with cleaning procedures. Cleaning, hygiene and handwashing 
to make your workplace COVID-secure (hse.gov.uk) 
 

  

Page 48

https://www.hse.gov.uk/coronavirus/cleaning/cleaning-workplace.htm
https://www.hse.gov.uk/coronavirus/cleaning/cleaning-workplace.htm


5.7.3 Engineering controls – aim to try to lower the risk by changing the way the 
activity takes place. Different approaches can be taken to do this such as: 
 

 Using anti-microbial surfaces  

 Reduce shared surfaces, where this cannot be avoided altogther 

 Using no-touch (contactless) technologies 

 Providing additional hand wash stations 

 Regular handwashing and sanitising, including providing facilities and signage to 
encourage regular handwashing and sanitising 

 Increasing fresh-air ventilation in poorly ventilated spaces 

 Limiting or controlling movement of people, for example one way systems, or 
limiting number of people accessing confined areas such as lifts, toilet facilities, 
kitchens or meeting rooms at the same time 

 Provide clear signage (eg signs, floor tape or paint) for physical distancing, 
queuing systems, one way systems etc. 

 Encourage vaccination take up of your workforce 

 Physical distancing of staff and customers/children 

 Limit time spent and/or numbers in rooms before ventilation  

 Workforce planning and teams to maintain operational capacity  

 Effective communications and feedback on improvements for community safety  

 Remove unnecessary restrictions when it is safe, in order to promote adherence 
to necessary ones  
 

5.7.4 Administrative Controls - aim to lower any remaining risks of exposure. There 
are different ways that this can be done but they should include: 

 

 Frequently cleaning surfaces that are touched a lot 

 Increasing training on quality and effectiveness of cleaning 

 Providing hand sanitiser 

 Avoiding sharing of equipment such as ‘hot-desking’ 

 Reducing how many people are working in a particular location by, for example, 
encouraging home working where possible 

 Staggering shifts 

 Ensuring people are maintaining physical distance between them,  

 The use of face-coverings and or face-shields in indoors areas for workers and 
members of the public 

 Covid-passport/Covid-certificate or PCR testing, encourage LFD at home 
 

5.7.5 Personal protective equipment (PPE) – aim to protect the worker from residual 
exposure through use of PPE. (Least effective intervention) Attention must be 
paid to avoiding infection control during wear, removal, storage and disposal 
 

 Fluid resistant surgical face masks (where indicated by guidance) 

 Gloves and aprons  

 Eye protection 
 
5.8 Attached at Appendix 1 is a template that sets out the hierarchy of controls and a 

range of measures within that enable the risks of reopening a setting to be assessed. 
Appendix 2 includes a completed template undertaken by the Head of Customer and 
Digital Services in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance 
that supports the reintroduction of reception and customer services from the ground 
floor of Ty Penallta, which is currently closed to the public. 

 

Page 49



5.9 Subject to Cabinet approving the recommendations within this report, Heads of 
Service in consultation with the relevant Cabinet Member or Members will use the 
template at Appendix 1 to complete an assessment of each Council building that is 
currently closed. 

 
5.10 Having carried out the assessments, the template requires the Head of Service to 

make a recommendation as to whether the building should reopen or not, the level of 
control that should be applied and any considerations that need to be taken in to 
account. 

 
5.11 Once these assessments have been undertaken across the Council buildings that 

are currently closed, a further report will be brought back to Cabinet and an approved 
position will be established. Further reports will also be delivered should new 
guidance be released, COVID case prevalence change, or Alert Levels are adjusted 
again in the future. Buildings will remain closed to the public until such time as the 
relevant assessments have been carried out and Cabinet approval has been 
received. 

 
5.12 There will be instances whereby a closed building is occupied by more than one 

service and one Head of Service. In this situation it may not be possible to open the 
building to all services in order to maintain a Covid safe environment.  Therefore, in 
these circumstances, the relevant Heads of Service that occupy the building will 
undertake a joint risk assessment and make a joint recommendation on opening the 
building and the appropriate services that could be provided in a covid safe 
environment.  

 
5.13 While this report seeks to manage the safe reopening of Council premises to the 

public, it is also worth recognizing that the move to Alert level zero provides an 
opportunity to assess whether the current restrictions on staff access to Council 
buildings can also be relaxed.  

 
5.14 Many staff are now routinely working from home and the Council is progressing an 

approach to Agile Working through a separate Corporate Review. As this review 
progresses, a 10% increase on the total building capacity has been proposed for staff 
access to the Council’s main administrative buildings, subject to the necessary risk 
assessments being in place. This would take the capacity at Ty Penallta for example 
up from 100 (of 1000 desks) to 200 per day. 

 
5.15 This additional capacity should enable those staff who find working remotely from the 

office a significant challenge to begin spending a greater proportion of the working 
week physically in the workplace while not departing from the agile principles that are 
being developed.  

 
5.16 In addition, the Council is also in the process of procuring and implementing a 

technology solution for use across its Meeting rooms that will enable hybrid meetings 
(a mix of in person and remote) to take place. The work is on course to be concluded 
in September and, subject to relevant training then being undertaken, hybrid 
meetings should be possible in the very near future. 

 
 
5.17 Conclusion   

This report seeks to establish a consistent, evidence-based framework against which 
the risk of reopening Council’s buildings that are currently closed to the public can be 

Page 50



assessed, and recommendations can be made on the reasonable measures and 
conditions that would support any future reopening. 

 
6. ASSUMPTIONS 

6.1 None.   
 
 
7. SUMMARY OF INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
7.1 This report does not require an IIA as it seeks only to adopt a template and 

commission further work ahead of any change being implemented. 
 
 
8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 There should be no significant adverse financial implications attached to this report 

as budgets remain in place for the operation of core council buildings.  
 
8.2 There may be adhoc expenditure required should recommendations be to open 

specific settings that require additional safety features (partitions, signage etc) to be 
purchased. 

 
8.3 It is also possible that should the reopening of buildings require redeployed staff to 

return to their substantive posts, additional fixed term resources would need to be 
recruited. 

 
 
9. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 Where reasonable measures include the deployment of staff that are double 

vaccinated there may be some personal implications that emerge if staff that are 
employed in front facing roles are not sufficiently vaccinated. Vaccinations remain a 
matter of personal choice, therefore there may be a need to redeploy staff in order to 
mitigate any risks highlighted, which will be worked through accordingly. 

  
 
10. CONSULTATIONS 
 
10.1 The consultees are set out at the bottom of this report and any views received are set 

out below: 
 
  
Author:        Richard (Ed) Edmunds Corporate Director Education & Corp Services  
 
Consultees: Cllr. Philippa Marsden, Leader of the Council 
 Cllr. Colin Gordon, Cabinet Member for Corporate Governance 
 Christina Harrhy, Chief Executive 
 Cllr Colin Mann, Leader, Plaid Cymru 
 Cllr Kevin Etheridge, Leader, Independent  
 Corporate Management Team  
 Robert Tranter, Head of Legal Services & Monitoring Officer 
 Lynne Donovan, Head of People Services 
 Steve Harris, Head of Corporate Finance & S151 Officer 

Page 51



 Leadership Team  
 Cllr Gez Kirby, Chair of Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee 
 Cllr Brenda Miles, Vice Chair of Policy and Resources Scrutiny Committee 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 HOC Template Blank 
Appendix 2 Completed HOC Template for Customer Services at Ty Penallta 
 
 

Page 52



Venue & 
Service 

Elimination - 
Physically remove the 
hazard 

Substitution - replace 
the hazard 

Engineering controls - 
isolate people from the 
hazard 

Administrative 
controls - change the 
way people work 

PPE - protect the 
worker with Personal 
Protective Equipment 
 

Recommend 
to open? and 
conditions? 

[Include] Reasonable Measure 
Stopping an infectious 
person being in an 
environment by e.g. 
prohibit people from 
attending if feel unwell, 
and advise they should 
get tested and ensuring 
that all employees follow 
self-isolation advice if 
they are a contact of a 
possible confirmed case. 
 
Proposed Approach: 
[TBC] 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Ensuring that accurate 
records are kept of 
which employees (and, 
where applicable, 
customers / visitors / 
clients) have been 
present so that they can 
be contact traced if 
necessary 
 
Proposed Approach: 
[TBC] 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Close high risk 
environments in your 
work setting as much as 
possible, such as areas 

Reasonable Measure 
Reducing the time that 
people come into face-
to-face contact.  
 
Proposed Approach: 
[TBC] 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Changing work patterns 
so that people work in a 
fixed group or cohort or 
arrive at and leave work 
at staggered times. This 
limits the number of 
people that the virus can 
potentially spread to.  
 
Proposed Approach: 
[TBC] 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Moving to working 
outdoors to reduce how 
much the virus can 
spread through surface 
contamination and 
aerosol transmission.  
 
Proposed Approach: 
[TBC] 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Using other technologies 
to replace face-to-face 
interactions, for example 

Reasonable Measure 
Using anti-microbial 
surfaces.  
 
Proposed Approach: 
[TBC] 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Reduce shared 
surfaces, where this 
cannot be avoided 
altogether.  
 
Proposed Approach: 
[TBC] 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Using no-touch 
(contactless) 
technologies. Providing 
additional hand wash 
stations –  
 
Proposed Approach: 
[TBC] 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Regular handwashing 
and sanitising, including 
providing facilities and 
signage to encourage 
regular handwashing 
and sanitising 
 
Proposed Approach: 
[TBC] 

Reasonable Measure 
Frequently cleaning 
surfaces that are 
touched a lot  
 
Proposed Approach: 
[TBC] 
.  
Reasonable Measure 
Increasing training on 
quality and effectiveness 
of cleaning  
 
Proposed Approach: 
[TBC] 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Providing hand sanitiser  
 
Proposed Approach: 
[TBC] 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Avoiding sharing of 
equipment such as ‘hot-
desking’  
 
Proposed Approach: 
[TBC] 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Reducing how many 
people are working in a 
particular location by, for 
example, encouraging 

Reasonable Measure 
Fluid resistant surgical 
face masks (where 
indicated by guidance) 
Gloves and aprons  
Eye protection 
 
Proposed Approach: 
[TBC] 
 

Yes / No 
 
Control: 
 
Caveats: 
 

P
age 53



Venue & 
Service 

Elimination - 
Physically remove the 
hazard 

Substitution - replace 
the hazard 

Engineering controls - 
isolate people from the 
hazard 

Administrative 
controls - change the 
way people work 

PPE - protect the 
worker with Personal 
Protective Equipment 
 

Recommend 
to open? and 
conditions? 

where social distancing 
cannot be maintained.   
 
Proposed Approach: 
[TBC] 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Staff takes both vaccine 
doses as soon as 
recommended.   
 
Proposed Approach: 
[TBC] 
 
 
 
 
 

using ‘click and collect’ 
technologies, remote 
working, phone/video 
consultations.  
 
Proposed Approach: 
[TBC] 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Installation of partitions 
at appropriate places 
(e.g. reception desks or 
between work stations) 
to separate staff etc. If 
used ensure they are 
cleaned and disinfected 
in line with cleaning 
procedures. Cleaning, 
hygiene and 
handwashing to make 
your workplace COVID-
secure (hse.gov.uk)  
 
Proposed Approach: 
[TBC] 
 
 
 

Reasonable Measure 
Increasing fresh-air 
ventilation in poorly 
ventilated spaces –  
 
Proposed Approach: 
[TBC] 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Limiting or controlling 
movement of people, for 
example one way 
systems, or limiting 
number of people 
accessing confined 
areas such as lifts, toilet 
facilities, kitchens or 
meeting rooms at the 
same time.   
 
Proposed Approach: 
[TBC] 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Provide clear signage 
(eg signs, floor tape or 
paint) for physical 
distancing, queuing 
systems, one way 
systems etc.  
 
Proposed Approach: 
[TBC] 
 
 
 

home working where 
possible 
 
Proposed Approach: 
[TBC] 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Staggering shifts 
 
Proposed Approach: 
[TBC] 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Ensuring people are 
maintaining physical 
distance between them,  
 
Proposed Approach: 
[TBC] 
 
Reasonable Measure 
The use of face-
coverings and or face-
shields in indoors areas 
for workers and 
members of the public – 
all above  
 
Proposed Approach: 
[TBC] 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Covid-passport/Covid-
certificate or PCR 
testing, encourage LFD 
at home   

P
age 54

https://www.hse.gov.uk/coronavirus/cleaning/cleaning-workplace.htm
https://www.hse.gov.uk/coronavirus/cleaning/cleaning-workplace.htm
https://www.hse.gov.uk/coronavirus/cleaning/cleaning-workplace.htm
https://www.hse.gov.uk/coronavirus/cleaning/cleaning-workplace.htm
https://www.hse.gov.uk/coronavirus/cleaning/cleaning-workplace.htm


Venue & 
Service 

Elimination - 
Physically remove the 
hazard 

Substitution - replace 
the hazard 

Engineering controls - 
isolate people from the 
hazard 

Administrative 
controls - change the 
way people work 

PPE - protect the 
worker with Personal 
Protective Equipment 
 

Recommend 
to open? and 
conditions? 

Reasonable Measure 
Encourage vaccination 
take up of your 
workforce 
 
Proposed Approach: 
[TBC] 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Physical distancing of 
staff and customers / 
children 
 
Proposed Approach: 
[TBC] 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Limit time spent and/or 
numbers in rooms 
before ventilation   
 
Proposed Approach: 
[TBC] 
 
Reasonable Measure: 
Effective comms and 
feedback on safety 
improvements  
 
Proposed Approach: 
[TBC] 
 
Reasonable Measure: 
Remove unnecessary 
restrictions when it is 
safe, in order to promote 

Proposed Approach: 
[TBC] 
 

P
age 55



Venue & 
Service 

Elimination - 
Physically remove the 
hazard 

Substitution - replace 
the hazard 

Engineering controls - 
isolate people from the 
hazard 

Administrative 
controls - change the 
way people work 

PPE - protect the 
worker with Personal 
Protective Equipment 
 

Recommend 
to open? and 
conditions? 

adherence to necessary 
ones  
 
Proposed Approach: 
[TBC] 
 
Reasonable Measure: 
Workforce planning and 
teams to maintain 
operational capacity 
 
Proposed Approach: 
[TBC] 
 

 

Assessment Summary 

Venue           Open Yes / No       

Service(s)          Control        

          

          

          

          

 

Head of Service (Title):        Director         

Signed:          Signed:        

Date:     / /     Date:    / /  

P
age 56



Venue & 
Service 

Elimination - 
Physically remove the 
hazard 

Substitution - replace 
the hazard 

Engineering controls - 
isolate people from the 
hazard 

Administrative 
controls - change the 
way people work 

PPE - protect the 
worker with Personal 
Protective Equipment 
 

Recommend 
to open? and 
conditions? 

Ty 
Penallta  
 
Customer 
Services 
and 
Reception 

Reasonable Measure 
Stopping an infectious 
person being in an 
environment by e.g. 
prohibit people from 
attending if feel unwell, 
and advise they should 
get tested and ensuring 
that all employees follow 
self-isolation advice if 
they are a contact of a 
possible confirmed case. 
 
Proposed Approach: 
Access by a limited 
number of appointments 
per day only.  
 
Reasonable Measure 
Ensuring that accurate 
records are kept of 
which employees (and, 
where applicable, 
customers / visitors / 
clients) have been 
present so that they can 
be contact traced if 
necessary 
 
Proposed Approach: 
Access by appointment 
only will enable accurate 
records of staff, contact 
details of customers and 
time and date in the 
building. 

Reasonable Measure 
Reducing the time that 
people come into face-
to-face contact.  
 
Proposed Approach: 
Yes appointments only – 
no payments unless part 
of a service request 
such as buying a permit 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Changing work patterns 
so that people work in a 
fixed group or cohort or 
arrive at and leave work 
at staggered times. This 
limits the number of 
people that the virus can 
potentially spread to.  
 
Proposed Approach: 
Yes appointments only 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Moving to working 
outdoors to reduce how 
much the virus can 
spread through surface 
contamination and 
aerosol transmission.  
 
Proposed Approach: 
Not possible 
 
 

Reasonable Measure 
Using anti-microbial 
surfaces.  
 
Proposed Approach: 
Appointments only, no  
payments taken unless 
part of a service request 
ie: buying a permit. Limit 
staff available,.  
 
Reasonable Measure 
Reduce shared 
surfaces, where this 
cannot be avoided 
altogether.  
 
Proposed Approach: 
As above 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Using no-touch 
(contactless) 
technologies. Providing 
additional hand wash 
stations –  
 
Proposed Approach: 
As above 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Regular handwashing 
and sanitising, including 
providing facilities and 
signage to encourage 

Reasonable Measure 
Frequently cleaning 
surfaces that are 
touched a lot  
 
Proposed Approach: 
New process required 
and agreement for staff 
to do this, new furniture 
if cloth furniture in place.  
 
Reasonable Measure 
Increasing training on 
quality and effectiveness 
of cleaning  
 
Proposed Approach: 
New processes required 
or cleaning staff 
dedicated to the area 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Providing hand sanitiser  
 
Proposed Approach: 
In place at setting 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Avoiding sharing of 
equipment such as ‘hot-
desking’  
 
Proposed Approach: 
Manageable if 
appointment only 
 

Reasonable Measure 
Fluid resistant surgical 
face masks (where 
indicated by guidance) 
Gloves and aprons  
Eye protection 
 
Proposed Approach: 
All available for use 

Yes under 
stated 
Elimination 
Controls    
 
Suggest – 
 
September to 
December 
and monitor 
impact, 
footfall and 
refine 
approaches 

P
age 57



Venue & 
Service 

Elimination - 
Physically remove the 
hazard 

Substitution - replace 
the hazard 

Engineering controls - 
isolate people from the 
hazard 

Administrative 
controls - change the 
way people work 

PPE - protect the 
worker with Personal 
Protective Equipment 
 

Recommend 
to open? and 
conditions? 

Reasonable Measure 
Close high risk 
environments in your 
work setting as much as 
possible, such as areas 
where social distancing 
cannot be maintained.   
 
Proposed Approach: 
Ty Penallta provides 
sufficient space for 
social distancing and 
access and movement 
controls to be in place. 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Staff takes both vaccine 
doses as soon as 
recommended.   
 
Proposed Approach: 
Only use staff in setting 
with two vaccines in 
place  
 
 
 
 
 

Reasonable Measure 
Using other technologies 
to replace face-to-face 
interactions, for example 
using ‘click and collect’ 
technologies, remote 
working, phone/video 
consultations.  
 
Proposed Approach: 
Yes move all services on 
line and stop  
payment collections 
unless its part of a 
service request ie: 
buying a permit 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Installation of partitions 
at appropriate places 
(e.g. reception desks or 
between work stations) 
to separate staff etc. If 
used ensure they are 
cleaned and disinfected 
in line with cleaning 
procedures. Cleaning, 
hygiene and 
handwashing to make 
your workplace COVID-
secure (hse.gov.uk)  
 
Proposed Approach: 
Partitions in place at Ty 
Penallta. Cleaning and 

regular handwashing 
and sanitising 
 
Proposed Approach: 
In place 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Increasing fresh-air 
ventilation in poorly 
ventilated spaces –  
 
Proposed Approach: 
Limited opportunities – 
keep door open 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Limiting or controlling 
movement of people, for 
example one way 
systems, or limiting 
number of people 
accessing confined 
areas such as lifts, toilet 
facilities, kitchens or 
meeting rooms at the 
same time.   
 
Proposed Approach: 
Setting allows for this. 
One way system can be 
established, 
appointments would 
control numbers 
 
 
 

Reasonable Measure 
Reducing how many 
people are working in a 
particular location by, for 
example, encouraging 
home working where 
possible 
 
Proposed Approach: 
Staff numbers can be 
reduced through 
introduction of 
appointments only. 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Staggering shifts 
 
Proposed Approach: 
Officer Hours only but 
staff numbers can be 
reduced through 
introduction of 
appointments only. 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Ensuring people are 
maintaining physical 
distance between them,  
 
Proposed Approach: 
Partitions in place. 
Queuing and one way 
systems can be 
introduced.  
 
 

P
age 58

https://www.hse.gov.uk/coronavirus/cleaning/cleaning-workplace.htm
https://www.hse.gov.uk/coronavirus/cleaning/cleaning-workplace.htm
https://www.hse.gov.uk/coronavirus/cleaning/cleaning-workplace.htm
https://www.hse.gov.uk/coronavirus/cleaning/cleaning-workplace.htm
https://www.hse.gov.uk/coronavirus/cleaning/cleaning-workplace.htm


Venue & 
Service 

Elimination - 
Physically remove the 
hazard 

Substitution - replace 
the hazard 

Engineering controls - 
isolate people from the 
hazard 

Administrative 
controls - change the 
way people work 

PPE - protect the 
worker with Personal 
Protective Equipment 
 

Recommend 
to open? and 
conditions? 

disinfecting to be carried 
between appointments 
 
 
 

Reasonable Measure 
Provide clear signage 
(eg signs, floor tape or 
paint) for physical 
distancing, queuing 
systems, one way 
systems etc.  
 
Proposed Approach: 
In place at Setting 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Encourage vaccination 
take up of your 
workforce 
 
Proposed Approach: 
Underway 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Physical distancing of 
staff and customers / 
children 
 
Proposed Approach: 
Partitions in place. 
Queuing systems can be 
introduced.  
 
Reasonable Measure 
Limit time spent and/or 
numbers in rooms 
before ventilation   
 
 
 

Reasonable Measure 
The use of face-
coverings and or face-
shields in indoors areas 
for workers and 
members of the public – 
all above  
 
Proposed Approach: 
Use of face coverings in 
indoor spaces to be 
requested 
 
Reasonable Measure 
Covid-passport/Covid-
certificate or PCR 
testing, encourage LFD 
at home   
 
Proposed Approach: 
This would require a 
new process and an 
associated HR policy 
would be required 
 

P
age 59



Venue & 
Service 

Elimination - 
Physically remove the 
hazard 

Substitution - replace 
the hazard 

Engineering controls - 
isolate people from the 
hazard 

Administrative 
controls - change the 
way people work 

PPE - protect the 
worker with Personal 
Protective Equipment 
 

Recommend 
to open? and 
conditions? 

Proposed Approach: 
Appointments only 
combined with queuing 
system 
 
Reasonable Measure: 
Effective comms and 
feedback on safety 
improvements  
 
Proposed Approach: 
Strong, consistent 
signage together with 
offering Customers 
opportunity to provide 
verbal feedback on 
experience 
 
Reasonable Measure: 
Remove unnecessary 
restrictions when it is 
safe, in order to promote 
adherence to necessary 
ones  
 
Proposed Approach: 
Will remain under review 
 
Reasonable Measure: 
Workforce planning and 
teams to maintain 
operational capacity 
 
Proposed Approach: 
Appointments only will 
assist 

P
age 60



 

Assessment Summary 

 

Venue     Ty Penallta     Open Yes / No  Yes     

Service(s)    Customer First    Control   Elimination    

     Reception    

          

          

          

 

 

Head of Service (Title):        Director         

 

Signed:          Signed:        

 

Date:     / /     Date:    / /  

P
age 61



G
adew

ir y dudalen hon yn w
ag yn fw

riadol

P
age 62


	Agenda
	3 Cynhaliwyd y Cabinet ar 21 Gorffennaf 2021.
	4 Blaenraglen Waith y Cabinet.
	5 Taliadau Parcio Ceir.
	6 Fframwaith Strategol ar gyfer Adferiad - Cynnydd.
	Atodiad 1

	7 Rheoli Risg Adeiladau a Gwasanaethau ar Lefel Rhybudd Sero.
	Atodiad 1
	Atodiad 2


